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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A5 4

Note 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Wizt —BZ= “E--f “BT-# “ETRE “F-hE
Revenue (Hk$ 000) W (FE7)
a. Construction 2 BE (88,954) 395,521 1,133.711 497,147 264,918
b. Property leasing b ERE 243,072 200,687 164,674 139,835 157,460
¢. Property development CHEERE 4,850,442 221,659 194,000 265,614 191,032
5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385 902,59 613,410
Profit from operations (Hk$000) K& (FE7) 1,634,272 85,579 249,466 110,600 230,585
Operating profit/(loss) excluding MR EME AT
change in fair value of ELE T EEER,/
investment properties (&518) 1,658,144 (7,135) 248,077 120,944 211,166
Change in fair value of investment R EWEAFEEF
properties (23,872) 92,714 1,389 (10,344) 19,419
Underlying profit/(loss) (#k$000) EBERF)/ (B18) (F 57T () 1,299,332 (75,167) 147,646 44,173 129,581
Dividends (+k$ 000) RS F2E7) 653,105 397,472 113,564 411,667 69,558
Current ratio TENE 2.12 0.63 0.84 145 2.62
Gearing ratio BXafEE (i) 155.3% 230.9% 161.6% 177.4% 141.1%
Net gearing ratio BEREELE (i) 134.8% 198.1% 116.4% 85.7% 135.3%
Return on equity R A B3R 42.8% 0.8% 6.0% 1.4% 5.3%

Note:

(i) Underlying profit/(loss) is arrived at by excluding the effect of changes in
fair value of investment properties from profit for the year

(i) Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings divided by
shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100%

(i) Net gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings net of cash

and bank balances, divided by shareholders’ equity and multiplied by
100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TR B

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F B F B4 —ETEFE ~—E—HE
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FEBT FHT FEBT
RESULTS ¥4
For the year ended 31 March BE=H=—+—HItFE
Revenue Wz 5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385 902,59 613,410
Profit before taxation BRI AR R 1,529,180 26,733 187,904 43272 177,114
Profit for the year FEREF] 1,275,460 17,547 149,035 33,829 149,000
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
AS at 31 March R=F=+—H
Total assets mEE 8,150,242 10,673,730 9,840,259 9,549,612 7,050,797
Total liabilities Besd 5,168,409 8,548,181 7,362,721 7,144,253 4,236,275
Total equity Y 2,981,833 2,125,549 2,477,538 2,405,359 2,814,522
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B

Chan Hung Ming
R FLEA

Chairman

FE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am delighted
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY
2022/23").

RESULTS

The Group has achieved remarkable results in the FY 2022/23
with record-high revenue and profit attributable to shareholders.
Consolidated revenue for the year reached HK$5,004.6 million,
representing a substantial increase of 5.1 times when compared with
the HK$817.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY 2021/22").
The Group's profit for the year soared by 71.7 times from HK$17.5
million to HK$1,275.5 million. Disregarding the change in fair value of
investment properties, the Group recorded an underlying profit for the
year of HK$1,299.3 million, compared to an underlying loss of HK$75.2
million in FY 2021/22. These are primarily attributable to recognition of
revenue and profits from The Grand Marine upon completion of its sales
and handover of the residential units to the customers during the year of
review.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 5.0 HK cents per
ordinary share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) each for the FY 2022/23.
To celebrate the Group’s 10th anniversary of listing on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and express our
gratitude to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for
their continued support, the Board also recommends a special dividend
of 15.0 HK cents per Share. Together with the interim dividend of 6.0 HK
cents per Share and special interim dividend of 20.0 HK cents per Share
already paid, the total dividends for the FY 2022/23 will amount to 46.0
HK cents per Share.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
TR )

The proposed final dividend and special dividend will be subject to the
approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
proposed to be held on 4 August 2023. If approved, the final dividend
and special dividend will be paid on or around 18 September 2023 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 15 August 2023.

REVIEW OF OPERATION

Property Development — Hong Kong

The Grand Marine

This residential development is located at No. 18 Sai Shan Road,
Tsing Yi, the New Territories. It offers 776 units with a saleable area
of approximately 345,000 square feet. Pre-sales commenced since
November 2019 and were well received by the market with over 92%
of the units being sold as of 31 March 2023. Handover of the pre-sold
units to buyers commenced in April 2022 following the issuance of the
certificate of compliance in March 2022. Sales revenue of HK$4.85 billion
was recognised in FY 2022/23.

The Grands

This project is located at No. 41, 43 and 45 Pau Chung Street in To Kwa
Wan, Kowloon in close proximity to MTR To Kwa Wan station with a gross
floor area of approximately 31,000 square feet. It is being developed into
a 22-storey residential-cum-commercial tower with 76 residential units
and a resident clubhouse over two levels of shops. Interior fitting-out
works of the residential units are substantially completed. Preparation
works for the pre-sale of the project are also commenced.

Luen Fat Street project

This site, situated at No.1 Luen Fat Street, Fanling, the New Territories, is
planned to develop into a residential-cum-commercial complex with a
total gross floor area of approximately 36,000 square feet. In December
2022, the Group had agreed the provisional basic terms of the proposed
in-situ land exchange with the Hong Kong Government and is now
pending an indication from the Government regarding the land premium.
Meanwhile foundation works is underway and the development is
scheduled to be completed in mid-2025.

North Point project

In February 2023, the Group acquired two properties at No. 66 Fort
Street and No. 57 Kin Wah Street, North Point, which cover a site area
of approximately 3,240 square feet with a developable gross floor area
of approximately 30,000 square feet. Currently, No. 57 Kin Wah Street
is a vacant land, while No. 66 Fort Street has a 5-storey building, which
is scheduled to be demolished in the third quarter of 2023. The site is
planned to be redeveloped into a residential-cum-commercial project.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
TR )

Cristallo

This luxury residential project, at No. 279 Prince’s Road West, Kowloon,
was well received in the market. As at 31 March 2023, 15 units out of the
total 18 units had been sold.

Property Development — Mainland China

This site is located at Guangxi-ASEAN Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuming District, Nanning City, Guangxi Province
with a site area of approximately 574,000 square feet. It is planned
to be developed into a luxury residential project under the theme of
leisure and healthy lifestyle, comprising high-rise apartment units, villas,
retail shops and a wellness centre. Target customers will be the elderly
and retirees and their families. The estimated gross floor area of the
proposed development is approximately 1,100,000 square feet. The
Group is in the process of obtaining all necessary document approvals
from the relevant government authorities and plans to start construction
works later this year.

Data Centre Premises Leasing

The Group currently owns two data centres, namely iTech Tower 1
and iTech Tower 2. Revenue from its leasing business maintained a
favourable growth, and recorded an increase of 20.5% year-on-year to
HK$235.0 million. This was mainly driven by increasing utilisation of data
centre spaces by the existing and new customers and increasing rental-
related income due to uprise of electricity tariff.

The sites at No. 3 On Kui Street and No. 8 On Chuen Street in Fanling, the
New Territories will be developed into two new high-tier data centres
for leasing purposes with a gross floor area of approximately 186,000
square feet in aggregate. The land exchange for the land at No. 3 On Kui
Street had been completed with the land premium involved being fully
settled. Superstructure works are now underway and the development
is scheduled for completion in mid-2025. For the land at No. 8 On Chuen
Street, the land exchange application was finalised and the procedure
for the land exchange is now in progress. Demolition of the existing
structure in the site is completed. Development works are expected
to commence in the third quarter of 2023 and is scheduled to be
completed in mid-2026.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
TR )

Construction

The Group's construction business consists of the provision of building
services as a main contractor in property development projects, as well
as the provision of existing building alterations, renovation and fitting-
out works services for prominent local developers, public institutions
and the Group’s companies. As at 31 March 2023, the Group possessed
contracts (inclusive of external customers and the Group's companies)
with an aggregate value of approximately HK$2.72 billion.

Construction revenue derived from external customers for the
FY2022/23 recorded a negative HK$89.0 million, primarily due to a
reversal of revenue of HK$165.5 million arising from a change of
estimate in the transaction price, which concerned certain variation
orders of a construction project undertaken by the Group, in the process
of negotiating of its final account during the year. For further details,
please refer to note 7(a) to the financial statements in this annual report.

OUTLOOK

2023 remains a challenging year for businesses. Despite all the
pandemic measures were removed and the border between Hong Kong
and the Mainland China was reopened in the first quarter of 2023, the
local economy is still in a slow recovering situation. In addition, the hike
in interest rate continue to cloud the housing market outlook. We remain
cautious on the outlook for 2023.

Against this backdrop, we manage to achieve remarkable results in FY
2022/23 with a record-high revenue and net profit, attributed from the
completion of sales of The Grand Marine. We will continue the sale of the
remaining units of The Grand Marine and Cristallo. Besides, subject to
market condition, we expect to launch the pre-sales of The Grands in the
second half of 2023.

The development of the two new high-tier data centres in Fanling are
progressing on schedule, and are targeted to be delivered in mid-2025
and mid-2026. Demand for new data centres in Hong Kong remains
strong and we endeavour to secure customers for these two projects. At
the same time, we commit to improving and upgrading the infrastructure
of the existing data centres with a view to providing reliable services to
our existing customers.

With proven track record and a resilient financial position, we continue
to improve performance of the business operations while searching for
suitable development projects on a prudent manner so as to maintain a
sustainable development of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
FRHE )

APPRECIATION e

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Board ~ Zx A Z#E L% 2 > RORIGHE S G AYEBEEE
for its brilliant leadership, to the Shareholders for their strong support, RREMEHSZF HEHALEMEEEETH
and to the community for their enthusiastic help, and last but not least,  N#Z% 10

to our staff for their dedicated efforts.

Chan Hung Ming FE
Chairman PRFLEA
Hong Kong, 19 June 2023 &8 _E_=%F,xA+hH

1 O GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

5 BLRE i B o7 W

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In FY 2022/23, the Group’s consolidated revenue amounted to
HK$5,004.6 million (FY 2021/22: HK$817.9 million), representing an
increase of 5.1 times as compared to FY 2021/22. The consolidated
gross profit also increased 31.2 times to HK$1,987.8 million (FY 2021/22:
HK$61.7 million). These are primarily attributable to recognition of
revenue and profits from The Grand Marine upon completion of its sales
and handover of the residential units to the customers during the year
under review.

Total operating expenses (inclusive of selling and general and
administrative expenses) for the year increased by 274% to HK$335.9
million (FY 2021/22: HK$89.9 million), largely attributed by (i) the property
agency commission and handover expenses incurred in relation to the
sales of The Grand Marine; and (i) an increase in staff costs associated
with the grant of share options amounting to HK$14.0 million (FY
2021/22: Nil).

An unrealised fair value loss on investment properties and investment
properties under development of HK$23.8 million (FY 2021/22: fair value
gain of HK$92.7 million) was recognised for FY 2022/23.

Finance costs for the year increased by 78.6% to HK$105.1 million (FY
2021/22: HK$58.8 million), primarily due to an increase in interest rate
during the year under review.

Net profit for FY 2022/23 grew by 71.7 times to HK$1,275.5 million
(FY 2021/22: HK$17.5 million). Excluding the change in fair value of
investment properties, the Group recorded an underlying profit of
HK$1,299.3 million in FY 2022/23, as compared to an underlying loss of
HK$75.2 million in FY 2021/22.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure with internally
generated cash flows and through bank borrowings. A variety of credit
facilities are maintained which had contracted repayment terms ranging
from repayable on demand to about 18.5 years. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of approximately HK$4,630
million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$4,907 million), all of which
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The gearing ratio (defined as
total interest-bearing borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) of
the Group was approximately 155.3% (31 March 2022: approximately
230.9%). The current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current
liabilities) of the Group was 2.12 times (31 March 2022: 0.63 times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

5 B i B or W ()

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$611.8 million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$696.8
million). The cash and bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. Taking into account the cash at banks and the
existing credit facilities available, the Directors considered that the
Group has sufficient working capital for its present operation and
business expansion in the foreseeable future.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
which bear interest at floating rates. The Group had in place a treasury
policy by which the exposure to floating interest rate risk was mitigated
by the use of interest rate swaps. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
outstanding interest rate swaps with notional amount of approximately
HK$1.05 billion. These swaps have fixed interest rates ranging from 1.3%
to 3.4% per annum and will mature from March to July 2025.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Directors consider that the Group’s foreign currency risk is
insignificant as substantially all of the Group's transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has not implemented
any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment. However, the
management monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely
and may consider adopting foreign currency hedging policy in the future
depending on the circumstances and the trend of foreign currency.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$7,507 million were pledged to
secure bank loans of approximately HK$4,571 million granted to the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events after the reporting period up to the
date of this annual report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, the Group had
no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

o BRJE B o W ()

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company during FY 2022/23.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 159 employees as at 31 March 2023. Total
remuneration of employees for FY 2022/23 was approximately HK$156.6
million. The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed by making reference to the prevailing market
conditions. The components of remuneration packages consist of basic
salary, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits, contributions to mandatory
provident funds, discretionary bonuses which are determined according
to individual performance of employees, as well as share options.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company during FY
2022/23.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not enter into any
agreement in respect of any proposed acquisitions and did not have any
future plans relating to material investment or capital assets.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HH S

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY 2022/23.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of building
construction, property leasing and property development. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 27 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal activities during FY 2022/23.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for FY 2022/23 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 57 of this annual report.

The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 5.0 HK cents per
Share for the FY 2022/23 and a special dividend of 15.0 HK cents per
Share to celebrate the 10th anniversary of the Group's listing, subject to
approval by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held
on 4 August 2023. Together with the interim dividend of 6.0 HK cents per
Share and special interim dividend of 20.0 HK cents per Share already
paid, the total dividends for the FY 2022/23 will amount to 46.0 HK cents
per Share.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
Shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

It is the Company’s policy to reward Shareholders in sharing the
Company’s profit whilst retaining adequate capital for business
development. The Board, at its sole discretion, declares or proposes
payment of dividends after taking into account a number of factors,
including the results of operations, financial conditions, working capital,
capital requirement and other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company currently, subject to the factors and considerations above,
pays dividends twice a year in the form of interim and final dividend.
Cash dividends will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. Other distributions,
if any, will be paid to Shareholders by any means which the Directors
deem legal, fair and practicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
mE gL ()

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 1 August 2023 to 4 August 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 July 2023.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend and special dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 14 August 2023 to 15 August 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected.
In order to qualify for entitlement to the proposed final dividend and
special dividend all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 11 August 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the outlook of
the Group's business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section
from pages 6 to 10 of this annual report. Description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, including the financial risks mentioned in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section and note 29 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the events that have occurred since the end of the
reporting period are provided in note 35 to the financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights and
Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this annual report. All
the above sections form part of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
mE gL ()

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to the sustainable development to the Group. The Group
is committed to building a close and caring relationships with its
employees and business partners, and improving the quality of services
and products to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures that all staff are reasonably remunerated,
regular seminars on safety for specific types of work and activities and
safety induction training are provided for all employees as well as the
subcontractors’ employees.

The Group stays connected with its customers and has ongoing
communication with them through various channels such as physical
meetings, telephone and electronic mail communication to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

The Group establishes long-term business relationships with the
subcontractors. Through the past dealings with the subcontractors,
the Group has acquired sufficient appreciation of their expertise and
strengths so that it would enable us to maintain our quality standards.

The Group also pays efforts to build up and maintain good relationships
with various commercial banks as the Group’s businesses are capital
intensive and require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates its business. The Group’s construction and data centre leasing
segments has established environmental management systems and
was certified by Certification Asia (HK) Limited to be in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 14001:2015.

During FY 2022/23, there was no material non-compliance in relation
to air pollution, noise control, disposal and emission of construction
wastes. Green office practices are also encouraged in the operation
of the Group's businesses, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, sending and presenting corporate documents
or information to the members of the Board in electronic format, and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting and electrical
appliances.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
HHE TS )

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) has been
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange at
the same time as the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During FY 2022/23, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, a discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code is included in the Corporate Governance Report.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group did not make any donations to charitable
organisations.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on
page 5 of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets (including investment properties
and property, plant and equipment) during the year are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS
Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out in
note 21 to the financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year is set
out in note 8(a) to the financial statements.

SHARE ISSUED AND SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’'s share capital are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
mE gL ()

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 61 of this annual report and in note 25(b) to the financial
statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers in aggregate was 1.4% and 3.9% of the
Group's total sales for the year respectively.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
and the five largest suppliers in aggregate was 11.1% and 35.2% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company's total number of issued shares) had
an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association (the “Articles”) and there is no restriction against such rights
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)

Ms. Tsang Ka Man (appointed on 15 December 2022)
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai (retired on 7 August 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan (appointed on 1 January 2023)
Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill (resigned on 1 January 2023)

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Lau Chi Wah, Mr. Kan Yau
Wo and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny will retire from office by rotation
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
mE gL ()

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles, Ms. Tsang Ka Man and Mr.
Ho Chiu Yin Ivan whose appointment as Director took effect from 15
December 2022 and 1 January 2023 respectively shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as of 31 March 2023 are set out on pages 30 to 34 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years and will continue
thereafter unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the service
agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, and such
appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract that is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles and in the directors’
and officers’ liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may
be brought against such Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
HHE WS )

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFQ,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
Name of Group member/ Capacity/ Shares held Shares held percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation  Nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2) Total shareholding
HE ET=p il
FEEREAR/ Kin#E Kin#E R REREAY
EXi4 LB % T8 g/ #mtE (a21) (F#2) g Eps
Mr. Chan Hung Ming The Company Interest of a controlled 921,642,940 (L) = 921,642,940 64.91%
corporation (Note 3)
BAREE AR SEEB#R (13)
Chan HM Company Limited  Beneficial owner 1 = 1 100%
EakEBA
Mr. Lau Chi Wah The Company Interest of a controlled 106,293,660 (L) = 106,293,660 7.49%
corporation (Note 4)
EFERE AR SEEB R (G14)
Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
EakEBA
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo The Company Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
AL E /N BEnEEA
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
Name of Group member/ Capacity/ Shares held Shares held percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation  Nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2) Total shareholding
EE2S] EX=p il
KEEREAE/ kG BB R HERE 49
EXU4 HEEE AT B/ EmtE (1) (22) ny BALE
Ms. Tsang Ka Man The Company Beneficial owner 1,586,000 1,000,000 2,586,000 0.18%
BEHtL /NG| BB
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah The Company Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 0.01%
RRELE /NG| BB
Mr. Kan Yau Wo The Company Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 0.01%
BRMEE /NG BB
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny The Company Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 0.01%
FRIBLE /N BB
Note: i

1.

The Letter “L” denotes the Directors’ long position in the Shares or the
relevant associated corporation.

This represented the number of share options granted to the Directors by
the Company under the share option scheme. Details of the share options
are disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

Mr. Chan Hung Ming holds 100% of the issued share capital of Chan
HM Company Limited, which owns 921,642,940 Shares out of the total
number of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chan Hung Ming
is deemed to have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah holds 100% of the issued share capital of Lau CW
Company Limited, which owns 106,293,660 Shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau Chi Wah is deemed to
have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2023.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons/entity (not being the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have interests or short positions
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

EEARRIN IR B ABRA AR 17 B 1 o B2

HKE

RZEZ=F=RB=+—H ®MESFMAAUT
AL/ EBRE UFEEHARATNTETHRAE R
AT HEERBBEREN RO NBRRG S
BEANWREREARBES KA ERAEXVE
F2RINBARABAN R AT H BN AERBRIFE

KHRE 1R B 55336 1F R I 17 B 2 B L AV #E

e -
maKE

Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
Capacity/ Shares held Shares held percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2) Total shareholding
AR
HERMEE iR & E B REREAY
MRt g/ EmtE (Z1) (#2) S BaL
Chan HM Company Limited Beneficial owner 921,642,940 (L) - 921,642,940 64.91%
BB A
Lau CW Company Limited Beneficial owner 106,293,660 (L) = 106,293,660 7.49%
Bam#EAA
Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong Family (Note 3) 106,293,660 (L) 1,000,000 107,293,660 7.56%
RA LT Kk (23)
Note: -2

1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s/entity’s long position in the Shares or
the relevant Group member.

2. This represented the number of share options granted to the Directors by
the Company under the Scheme.

3. Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong, the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah, is deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lau’s interest in our Company by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 31 March 2023 which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” above, at
no time during FY 2022/23 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding
company, a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or
any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group for FY 2022/23.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 2 September 2022, Dragon Mount Development Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and as vendor) entered into
a formal agreement to sell a car parking space located in The Grand
Marine to an associate (as purchaser) of an executive Director, Mr.
Lau Chi Wah, at a consideration of HK$2,000,000 (the “Transaction”).
The vendor is the developer of The Grand Marine. The Transaction was
completed on 3 October 2022. As Mr. Lau Chi Wah is an executive
Director of the Company, the sale of the car parking space to his
associate constituted a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since all the applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) in respect of the Transaction are
less than 5% and the total consideration is less than HK$3,000,000,
the Transaction constitutes de minimis transactions pursuant to Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules and is fully exempt from independent
Shareholders" approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of material related party
transactions made during FY 2022/23 is disclosed in note 34 to the
financial statements. To the extent that the Group's related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules during FY 2022/23.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party
during or at the end the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance or contract of significance for provision of
services with the Company’s controlling shareholder (“Controlling
Shareholder”) or its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year are set out in note
11 to the financial statements.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Controlling Shareholder had confirmed to the Company of each
of his compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided to
the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition (as defined in the
Prospectus). The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with by the
Controlling Shareholder.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the rules
of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules,
and contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in trustee-
administered funds independently. There are no forfeited contributions
for the MPF Scheme as the Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. There are
no forfeited contributions for the MPF Scheme as the Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the “PRC
Pension Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the PRC Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the PRC Pension Scheme. Under the PRC Pension Scheme, no forfeited
contributions will be used by the employers to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

During FY 2022/23, the aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions
made by the Group were approximately HK$2.8 million.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants to
contribute to the long term success of the business of the Group,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013 (the
“Scheme”).

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial statements
of this annual report.

During FY 2022/23, the Company granted 17,200,000 share options
under the Scheme and a total of 270,000 share options and 300,000
share options were exercised and cancelled respectively. As at 31 March
2023, the Company had 16,630,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 16,020,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.13% of the issue Shares of the Company at the date of
this annual report.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Scheme during FY 2022/23 divided by the weighted average
number of shares in issue for the year is 1.21%.

The number of options available for grant under Scheme at the
beginning and the end of FY 2022/23 is 40,000,000 and 22,800,000,
respectively.
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Details of movement in the share options during FY 2022/23 are set out

below:

2022/23F ERRELEFEUT ¢

Outstanding

Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat
Name or category price as at during during during during 31 March
of grantees Date of grant  Exercise period (HKS) 1 April 2022 the year the year the year the year 2023
AZEZZE AZEZ=E
1@ mA—H =A=+-H
ERASRRER i =pC 171E88 (B7) tef SRAT FRRE FERIE FEREH FREH HRATE
Executive Directors
HiTES
Lau Chiwah 15/12/2022 1 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 395 = 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
gEE
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 1 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 395 = 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
XA
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 3.95 = 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
L
Independent Non-Executive
Directors
BUFHTES
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 1 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 395 = 200,000 = = = 200,000
Kan Yau Wo 15/12/2022 1 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 395 = 200,000 = = = 200,000
Syl
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 3.95 = 200,000 = = = 200,000
FRIE
Sub-total for Directors - 3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000
BEat
Management personnel and 15/12/2022 1 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 * 3.95 - 5,300,000 (270,000) ® - - 5,030,000
core employees of the Group
FEBEEABR 11/1/20232 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 6.04 = 8,300,000 = = (300,000) 8,000,000
ZLES
Sub-total for other employees - 13,600,000 (270,000) = (300,000) 13,030,000
Hitt ST /st
Total - 17,200,000 (270,000) = (300,000) 16,630,000
By

L The closing price of the Share immediately before 15 December 2022, the

date on which those options were granted, was HK$3.95

2 The closing price of the Share immediately before 11 January 2023, the

date on which those options were granted, was HK$5.40

S The weighted average closing price of the Share immediately before
the dates of exercises of share options by the Group’s employees was

HK$5.85

9 Such share options granted have no vesting conditions

8 Such share options shall be vested to grantees on 11 January 2024

8 Excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders or any of

their respective associates

Save as disclosed above, there were no share options granted,

exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme during FY 2022/23.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan” or
the “SAP") on the Adoption Date. The purpose of the SAP is to attract
and retain the best quality personnel, to provide additional incentives
to them and to promote the long term success of the Group. Subject to
and in accordance with the rules of the SAP the Board may make an
award of shares to certain classes of eligible participants as specified
in the SAP, as determined by the Board from time to time on the basis
of the Board's opinion as to the proposed awardee’s contribution and/
or future contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
The Board also has a discretion to determine the terms of the award,
including the vesting conditions and the date when the award will vest.
No consideration is payable by the participant to receive the award or to
purchase shares under the SAP.

The SAP shall be subject to the administration of the Board, or such
committee or such sub-committee or person(s) delegated with the
power and authority by the Board to administer the SAP. The shares and
other trust fund for the implementation of the Share Award Plan shall be
administered by a trustee or trustees (the “Share Award Plan trustee”,
or the “SAP trustee”) to be appointed by the Company. Under the SAP
the Board shall determine the eligibility of the eligible participants and
the number of shares to be awarded (the “Awarded Shares”) and notify
the SAP trustee of the making of awards. The SAP trustee shall then
set aside the appropriate number of the Awarded Shares pending the
transfer and vest to the relevant participants out of a pool of shares
which shall comprise of, among others, shares either (1) (i) transferred to
it from any person (other than the Group) by way of gift; or (i) purchased
by the SAP trustee out of the funds received by the SAP trustee by way
of gift or for nominal consideration; (2) subscribed for or purchased by
the Share Award Plan trustee out of the funds allocated by the Board
out of the Group’s resources (“Group’s Contribution”), subject to the
terms and conditions of the rules of the SAP; (3) purchased by the SAP
trustee by utilising any surplus gift contribution, or the net proceeds of
the sale of the relevant nil-paid rights, options or warrants allocated to it
in respect of the Awarded Shares; (4) which remain unvested and revert
to the SAP trustee in accordance with the rules of the SAP
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The SAP trustee may purchase shares on the Stock Exchange at the
prevailing market prices or off the market. In respect of off-market
transactions, purchases shall not be made with any connected person,
nor shall the purchase price be higher than the lower of (1) the closing
market price on the date of such purchase, and (2) the average closing
market price for the five preceding trading days on which Shares of the
Company were traded on the Stock Exchange. At the beginning of each
financial year of the Group, the Board shall determine the maximum
amount of the Group’s Contribution to be allocated to the SAP trustee
(or via a special purpose vehicle which may be established by the SAP
trustee subject to the provisions of the trust deed to be executed by the
Company as settlor and the SAP trustee as trustee, shortly as “Share
Award Plan SPV") during such financial year, provided that the maximum
numbers of Shares which may be awarded for each financial year under
the SAP shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
at the beginning of such financial year. The Share Award Plan trustee
may also subscribe for new Shares at par or at such other subscription
price as instructed by the Board out of the Group's Contribution if
the Board considers it appropriate to do so. Prior approval from the
Shareholders is not required for the Directors to allot and issue new
Shares under the SAP to the SAP trustee, provided that the Directors
have sufficient unissued shares within the general mandate on hand
subject to certain limitations under the SAP. The Company shall comply
with the relevant listing rules when granting the Awarded Shares. the
legal and beneficial ownership of the relevant awarded Shares shall
be vested in the relevant selected participant within 10 business days
after the latest of (1) the date specified in the notice of the award given
by the Board to the SAP trustee; and (2) where applicable, the date on
which the condition(s) or performance target(s) (if any) to be attained
by such selected participant as specified in the related notice of award
have been attained and notified to the Share Award Plan trustee by the
Board in writing. Neither the SAP trustee nor Share Award Plan SPV (if so
established and subsisting) shall exercise the voting rights in respect of
the Shares held under trust. The Share Award Plan will remain in force
for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date.

No Shares had been awarded under the Share Award Plan since the
Adoption Date up to the date of this annual report. The number of
shares available for award under the SAP at the beginning and the end
of FY 2022/23 is 141,954,234 and 141,954,234, respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during FY 2022/23.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(“CG Code”) as contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the FY 2022/23. Details are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 35 to 48.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY 2022/23 have been audited
by BDO Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 June 2023
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Details of the biographies of Directors and senior management as of
31 March 2023 are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS/SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, aged 69, is our chairman and executive Director.
He is also our Controlling Shareholder and a director of all subsidiaries
of our Group. Mr. Chan is a co-founder of our Group and has participated
in the management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible
for formulating the overall strategic development and direction of the
business development of our Group. He has accumulated over 49 years'
experience in construction and property development field and 15
years’ experience in data centre leasing business.

Mr. Chan holds a Higher Certificate in Building Technology from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Chan is interested in 921,642,940
Shares, representing approximately 64.90% of the issued Shares. Save as
aforementioned, Mr. Chan has no other interests in the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, aged 58, is our executive Director and chief executive
officer. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Lau is
a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the management of
our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategic planning of our Group and overseeing the business
development, administrative and compliance matters of our Group. He
had over 34 years of audit, accounting and finance experience.

Mr. Lau holds an Honour Diploma in Accountancy from the Lingnan
College (now known as the Lingnan University) and Master's Degree
in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lau is interested in 106,293,660
Shares, representing approximately 7.48% of the issued Shares. He also
holds options entitling him to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as
aforementioned, Mr. Lau has no other interests in the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, aged 55, is our executive Director and chief
financial officer. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of our
Group. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2008 and has participated in the
management of the Group since then.

Mr. Kwan is responsible for the corporate finance, accounting, taxation,
investment and administrative matters of our Group. He has over 32
years' experience in auditing, accounting and finance field. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Kwan held a management position in a listed
company in Hong Kong for 12 years and was mainly responsible for
its finance, financial reporting obligations, accounting, taxation and
administrative matters.

Mr. Kwan holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of United Kingdom and a member of the HKICPA.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kwan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kwan
has no other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Ms. Tsang Ka Man, aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 15 December 2022. Ms. Tsang joined the Group in
2016 and is currently responsible for developing the Group’s property
development business in Hong Kong. She has over 6 years of experience
in the management of construction projects.

Ms. Tsang holds a Master of Science in Construction and Real Estate
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Science
with Second Class Honours in Construction Management from the
University of Wolverhampton, United Kingdom.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Tsang is interested in 1,586,000
Shares, representing approximately 0.11% of the issued Shares. She also
holds options entitling her to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as
aforementioned, Ms. Tsang has no other interests in the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, aged 70, is our independent non-executive Director
since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of
the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company.

Mr. Tsui has 35 years of banking experience with United States and local
banks, and has held various management positions in corporate, retail
and private banking. Currently he holds the position of chief executive
officer of SME Credit Company Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited (stock
code: 430), Multifield International Holdings Limited (stock code: 898)
and Southeast Asia Properties & Finance Limited (stock code: 252)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Master's Degree of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tsui holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Tsui has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Kan Yau Wo, aged 70, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Kan has been working with Fujitsu’s group of companies for over 30
years and was appointed as the president in Fujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. in
2007 and then the chief executive officer of Fujitsu’s South China and
Hong Kong Region. Mr. Kan retired from his position in Fujitsu’s group of
companies in 2011.

Mr. Kan graduated from University of Hull in United Kingdom with
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honour) in Computer Studies and
Mathematics.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kan has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny, aged 79, is our independent non-
executive Director since 23 July 2013. He is also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

With over 28 years' experience in the field of architecture, Mr. Lee
worked in several architect firms including as a director from 1995 to
2009. From 2009, Mr. Lee has been working for an architecture company
as a project director.

Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Architecture. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and a registered architect with Architects Registration Board
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is also an authorised person within the List of
Architects maintained by the Buildings Department.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lee holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Lee has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 January 2023. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in providing statutory audit,
group reporting, due diligence review and regulatory advisory
services for various clients with shares listed in Hong Kong and
businesses in manufacturing, retail, and property development in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. He worked for Price Waterhouse
(now PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong) from 1985 to 1989. He
then worked for Hamiltons in Sydney, Australia, a firm specialised
in insolvency practice, from 1989 to 1992 with his last position as
manager. From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Ho rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers
Hong Kong and worked as an audit manager. He then joined
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, Guangzhou Branch and acted
as a manager and then senior manager from 1995 to 2002, and was
admitted as partner from 2002 to 2021. Mr. Ho retired from partnership
of the firm in June 2021.

Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New
South Wales in 1984. He is a member of the HKICPA since 1993, a
member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
(previously the Institute of Chartered Accountant Australia) since 1991.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Ho did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, aged 57, is the company secretary of the
Company since July 2013. Mr. Leung has over 32 years' experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, he worked for and held senior
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong and was responsible
for their finance, accounting and company secretarial functions.
Currently he is an independent non-executive director of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222, a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange). He is also appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1455, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
on August 2020. Mr. Leung was a non-executive director of MOS House
Group Limited (stock code: 1653, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) from November 2017 to August 2019.

Mr. Leung is a member of the HKICPA, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong, a Master's Degree in Business
Administration jointly awarded by the University of Wales and the
University of Manchester and a Master’s Degree in Business (Logistics
Management) from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now
known as RMIT University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Leung holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures, and regards a pre-eminent
board of directors, sound internal controls and accountability to
all Shareholders as the core elements of its corporate governance
principles. The Company endeavours to ensure that its businesses are
conducted in accordance with rules and regulations, and applicable
codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules throughout FY 2022/23.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is primarily responsible for management of the Group,
including the responsibilities of formulating business strategies,
directing and monitoring the Group's development. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board is also required to approve
the Group's strategic development plan and major investments;
review the Group’s financial performance; identify principal risks
of the Group's business and ensure adequate systems of risk
management and internal control. The Board also delegates
certain responsibilities to various board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company’s affairs.

The day-to-day operations and administration are delegated to the
management of the Group under the leadership of the executive
Directors.

2. Board Composition
The Board currently comprises eight members, as detailed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)
Ms. Tsang Ka Man

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 30 to
33 of this annual report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
A list of Directors and their roles and functions has been published
on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim
of achieving diversity on the Company’s Board. The Company
recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees
diversity of perspectives at the Board level as essential in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development. In designing
the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, industry experience and expertise. All Board
appointments are based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against a variety of criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations required for
the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the standards
as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended
to the Board for approval.

The Board comprises Directors with diverse backgrounds and/or
extensive expertise in corporate management, with over 50% of
the Directors possessing professional qualifications.

Currently the Board has one female Director out of eight Directors.
The Board will strive to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Group advocates a
diversified and inclusive workplace, and adheres to the concept of
gender equality, and guarantees equal employment opportunities
for female employees. As at 31 March 2023, 75% of the Group's
employees (including Directors and senior management) were
male and 25% were female. The Company considers that gender
diversity in respect of the Board and the Group's workforce is
achieved.
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All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a specific term of three years and are required to retire by
rotation and eligible for re-election at the Company's annual
general meeting. The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules
and met the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules of at
least one-third of the members of the Board being independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, one of
the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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Board and Board Committee Meetings 3. EXECTKREEZECTESR
The Board's attendance in the general meetings, board meetings %%ﬁﬁAZOZZ/BEfﬁF‘Hy%ﬁ@ VEE
and board committee meetings during FY 2022/23 are as follows: EEENEEZEEERUT .
Meetings Attended/Held
BEHERY B
Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exg EGZES HMZES ReZ8% RREEAT
Executive Directors RiTES
Mr. Chan Hung Ming BRFLEBLE 8/8 - - - 11
Mr. Lau Chi Wah AFE=LE 8/8 - - - 11
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai RERLE
(retired on 7 August 2022) MZB_—&
NEtHEE) 2/2 - - - 0/1
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo BKMSE 8/8 - - - 11
Ms. Tsang Ka Man BEfut
(appointed on 15 December 2022) MZB——&
+ZBA+EAZD 33 - - = 0/0
Independent Non-Executive BiLEHNTES
Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah BRELE 8/8 2/2 3/3 2/2 m”n
Mr. Kan Yau Wo BRMEE 8/8 212 3/3 2/2 11
Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill RERTE
(resigned on 1 January 2023) (MZBZ=&
—B—H&fT) 5/5 2/2 il 2/2 01
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny FRELE 8/8 212 3/3 2/2 11
Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan BALE
(appointed on 1 January 2023) M-E-=&
—B—HBZfA) 3/3 = 2/2 - 0/0

B A IR AT 2022/236 8 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RS TRH S ()

38

Conflict of Interest

If a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being
considered in the board meeting, he will abstain from voting.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest
will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of interest
issues.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage
relating to directors’ and officers’ liability to indemnify the
Directors and senior management against any potential liabilities
arising from the Company’s business activities for which such
Directors and senior management may be held liable.

Directors’ Time Commitments and Trainings

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he had sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices they held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
changes of such information. All Directors are encouraged to
attend the Board meeting and board committee meeting in
person. For the Directors and committee members who are unable
to attend the meeting, participation through electronic means is
arranged and available.

All Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Lau Chi Wah,
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, Ms. Tsang Ka Man, Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan
Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny,
had participated in continuous professional development with
respect to directors’ duties, relevant programmes and seminars,
in compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. A record
of the Directors’ participation in such programmes is kept by
the Company. Reading materials on the latest developments or
updates in connection to the Group’s businesses, accounting,
regulatory and corporate governance aspects were provided
to the Directors. They also received monthly financial highlights
provided by the management.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Chan Hung Ming and Mr. Lau Chi Wah respectively
with clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, being the chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall strategies
and business development directions for the Group, to ensure that
adequate, complete and reliable information is provided to all Directors
in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board
meetings are explained appropriately.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, being the chief executive officer, is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the Board,
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. Given below are the main corporate governance duties of the
Board:

(i)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and

(V) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for FY 2022/23. The Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group's affairs and discharging its functions.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable the Board committees to
undertake their specific role.

1.

40

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Tsui Ka Wah
(chairperson), Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendation to the Board on
the policy and structure for Directors and senior management;
(i) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goal and
objective; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and (iv) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration.

During FY 2022/23, the Remuneration Committee held three
meetings. The work of the Remuneration Committee included:

()  reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewed and recommended the annual emoluments of
the Directors and other related matters to the Board for
approval;

endorsed the grant of share options to Directors and the
Group's employees to the Board for approval; and

reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the new executive Director and independent non-executive

Director to the Board for approval.

Details of remuneration of Directors are set out in note 11 to the
financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Audit Committee consists of all four independent non-executive
Directors. The current members are Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo and Mr. Lee Chung
Yiu Johnny. Mr. Ho holds the appropriate professional qualifications
as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
() making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; (i) reviewing
the financial statements, risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the internal control procedures.

During FY 2022/23, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The
work of the Audit Committee included:

() reviewed the audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for the year ended 31 March 2022;

(i) reviewed the unaudited financial statements and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
September 2022; and

(i) reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal controls system.

The Group's audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for FY 2022/23 were reviewed by the Audit
Committee on 19 June 2023.

The committee members also met in separate session with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Nomination Committee consists of all four independent non-
executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Kan Yau Wo
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. In assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate for directorship, the Board
will take into account the candidate’s qualification (including
professional qualifications, skill and knowledge), experience in
relation to the Group’s businesses and potential contribution that
can bring to the Company.

During FY 2022/23, the Nomination Committee held two meetings.
The work of the Nomination Committee included:

(i)  reviewed the size, composition and diversity of the Board;
(i) assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(i) made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting; and

(iv)  nominate suitable candidates and made recommendation to
the Board on the appointment of new Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors by
the Company;, all Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout FY 2022/23.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group's
financial position and of its financial performance and cash flow
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
applicable disclosures provisions of the Listing Rules. The management
provides information and explanation to the Board to enable it to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other decisions by
the Board. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by
the management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and
reasonable.

The responsibilities of the external auditor for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 49 to 56 of this annual report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the Company's external auditor to the Group for FY 2022/23
are approximately HK$1,384,000 (FY 2021/22: HK$1,341,000) and
HK$156,000 (FY 2021/22: HK$148,000) respectively. The non-audit
services mainly include the Group's tax reporting services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of internal controls and risk management within
the Group, and reviewing its operational adequacy and effectiveness
through the Audit Committee.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined how
much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives. The Group’s risk management structure matches with the
“Three Lines of Defense” model. Each business unit assumes risk
management responsibilities as the first line of defense. The middle and
back offices, including finance and accounting, company secretarial
and human resources departments, set up relevant internal control
and management procedures as the second line of defense. They also
perform financial, operational and compliance monitoring as well as risk
management functions. The internal auditor of the Group (the “Internal
Auditor”), as the third line of defense, provides independent and
objective assurance on the overall effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management system.
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Each business unit, as risk owners, identifies, evaluates, and monitors
its own risks, and reports such risk assessment on a monthly basis. The
results of the risk assessments and changes of the risk exposure faced
by the Group will be consolidated and presented to the Board at each
regularly scheduled meeting.

The Internal Auditor conducted reviews on systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational and
compliance control according to the internal audit plan endorsed by
the Audit Committee. During the process of review, the Internal Auditor
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, and proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management. The results of internal control review and management’s
remedial actions have also been reported to the Audit Committee at
each regularly scheduled meeting.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal controls system. The review,
which cover all material control areas including financial, compliance
and risk management functions, has been carried out annually.
During the review, the Audit Committee also considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training programs
and budgets.

The Board, through the review by the Audit Committee, considers that
the Group's internal control and risk management system is effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management
functions of the Group have been identified. The systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to Directors and management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Listing Rules and SFO.

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by publication
of the announcement to the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on a timely basis to enable the public, namely Shareholders,
institutional investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the
Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the board committees and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Company’s external
auditor is also invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the Independent Auditor’s Report.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.grandming.com.hk, where information and updates on the
Group's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
which is posted on the Company’s website and will review it on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company considers that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively implemented during
FY 2022/23 with the above measures in place.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
1. Convening Extraordinary General Meetings ("EGM")

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM of

the Company are prepared in accordance with the Articles:

(i) One or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

(i) Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by post to the
Company's headquarter in Hong Kong at 22/F, Railway Plaza,
No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, or by email to info@grandming.com.hk.

BIRRRIREENAE

FTRB DR BRIAMEBBNREREERMEZ
RBREETHRAEREBRFERRBEAYE &
ABTHEAARDEMFRFERL R FREAQF
ERUERRERREEEMFLHMBERERTE
MEEE-

ARFRRAGEEREFTTHERRREHRER
FTE-BEFEIRURBEFZEEEIR WK
FREHE AZEZETHEHMNE) REFERR
REOERRE o A B SN A% BB 78 8 B 7 R
RBFAGEZEBEST TIEURBIIZEENR
SRR ABTARIVER -

AHRREBRNBERER AR REAEMI
www.grandming.com.hk& B &N E B E B EE K&
EE-MBER PEEARABRAAMEN RS
HEH > UMEARALER

AABEHERREABRREH N T REMHE
U > R RE HAAR B DARE R EL AR - RIS BREX T &
TAETH > <A B 50 4% R SR IB B ER 12 2022/23F 2
ERIBEMMIT

R R MR

1. BRRRFEIRE
T ARFRBZZMIBHAADRE
HRAGHER

() ZAER—RAZEREZEREBFE
RORAERBDAERRRRE LRE
MBI ERETDZ—HRR (MEEE
KAL) EXFEAR REGHRLU
SEEANEEMAEBEXRTERY
EREBRZARKRRTHIAE -

(il ZHEEREBEUEAFEABFELAAHF
AR BB NBER DB R ERE39
SRR K E22BNEBRNERNE
L Einfo@grandming.com.hksy 75 = A
EEZGRANTRAAWERE

45

TR SR B PR A PR 2 \) 2022/234E )



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RS TRH S ()

46

(iii)

(iv)

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

(i)

Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a
Director:

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director (“Candidate”) for election as a Director at a
general meeting by lodging the following documents at the
headquarter of the Company in Hong Kong or the Company's
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong:

(@ a written notice (“Proposal Notice”) of the intention
to propose the Candidate for election as a Director,
which must (i) state the information of the Candidate
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
which is available on the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkex.com.hk) and (ii) must be signed by
Shareholder; and

(b) a written notice (“Consent Notice”) by the Candidate,
which must (i) indicate his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director and consent to the publication
of his/her personal information as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed by
the Candidate.

The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged
for a period of at least 7 clear days commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and ending no later than 7 clear days before the
date of such general meeting.
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Other Proposals:

If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the
“Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she may lodge
a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the

Company in Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 20 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval in an annual general meeting of the
company.

(2)  Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of a special resolution in an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(3) Notice of not less than 14 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

3. Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries in writing with their
detailed contact information to the company secretary of the
Company or the Board either by:

(i)

(if)

Post to the Company’s headquarter in Hong Kong at 22/F,
Railway Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong; or

Email to info@grandming.com.hk
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RS TRH S ()

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to a special resolution of the Shareholders passed on
5 August 2022, the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Amended M&A") was adopted with
effect from 5 August 2022.

The Amended M&A are available on the website of the Company and
the website of the Stock Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. The company secretary
reports to the chairman and chief executive officer. All directors may call
upon him for advice and assistance at any time in respect of his duties.
The company secretary is an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary are shown on
page 34 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B N7 A% SR ¥ v

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 162, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Y LA B (A7)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development

Investment properties and investment properties under development
consist of a commercial shop, two high-tier data centres and two parcels
of land for development of data centres. As disclosed in note 15 to the
financial statements, the carrying amount of the Group's investment
properties and investment properties under development at fair value
are amounted to HK$4,594,200,000 at 31 March 2023, representing 56%
of the Group's total assets.

As disclosed in note 15(a) to the financial statements, an independent
firm of qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) was engaged to
perform the valuation. Discounted cash flow method of the income
approach, market comparison method and residual method were
used to determine the fair value of the investment properties and
investment properties under development, respectively. Details of
these valuation approaches are disclosed in the note 15(a) to the
financial statement. These methods involve the making of assumptions,
which involve significant judgments, and estimates applied, including
estimated market rents, occupancy rates, estimate cost to completion,
capitalisation rates as well as discount rates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

LA (A7)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development (continued)

Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
valuation of investment properties and investment properties under
development included:

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

- Assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms,

- Using auditor’s expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuer,

- Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted in the
valuation, in particular capitalisation rates, by comparing them
with historical rates and available market data;

- Performing analysis on the reasonableness of the prospective
cash flows input to evaluate the results on the valuation; and

= Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
prospective cash flows input on existing leases by agreeing the
rental income and lease terms to the signed lease agreements.

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

As disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, revenue derived
from sales of properties for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to
HK$4,850,442,000, representing 97% of the Group's revenue.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group which
gives rise to an inherent risk that revenue could be recorded in the
incorrect period or subject to manipulation.

Sales of properties are recognised as revenue at the point in time when
the buyer obtains the control of the completed property. Determination
of this point in time is dependent on the contractual arrangements for a
sale, the laws in the relevant jurisdiction and may require management
judgment.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Y LA B (A7)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Revenue recognition from sales of properties (continued)
our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
revenue recognition on sale of properties involved sampling revenue
transactions and specifically included:

= Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of substantial risks
and rewards of ownership (including, where relevant, completion
certificates, occupation permits and acceptance letters);

- Reading the signed sales and purchase agreements to identify
contractual arrangements;

- Reconciling the amounts from the ledger and agreeing the
corresponding contracted terms to the signed sales and purchase
agreements; and

- Agreeing the deposits, final payments or mortgage receipts to
bank statements.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises information included in the Company’'s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Y LA B (A7)

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
Statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

ST A% B (A7)

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
Y LA B (A7)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Y LA B (A7)

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P06095

Hong Kong, 19 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AR e TR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZT=_F=-A=1+—HIFE CUETIIT)

2023 2022
Notes $’000 $000
Bz F7T FT
Revenue &= /@) 5,004,560 817,867
Direct costs BHEMA (3,016,788) (756,184)
Gross profit EF 1,987,772 61,683
Other income and gain, net HhW A R 358 7(d) 6,303 21,047
Selling expenses HEMX (275,663) (45,745)
General and administrative expenses — R RITH RS (60,268) (44,120)
Changes in fair value of KEMEZ AT EEE)

investment properties /5] (23,872) 92,714
Profit from operations &R 1,634,272 85,579
Finance costs IR AR 8@) (105,092) (58,846)
Profit before taxation PRI ATEF 8 1,529,180 26,733
Income tax expenses FTi8M sz H 9a) (253,720) (9,186)
Profit for the year FEREF 1,275,460 17,547
HK cents HK cents
L Py

Earnings per share SREF 14(a)
- Basic —HA 89.85 1.24
- Diluted — 58 89.79 1.24

Details of the dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable B R EREFEN FARAATIEE AWK EFE
to the profit for the year are disclosed in note 13(a) to the financial — #HEAFEIRFTHMIE13(a)
statements.

The notes on pages 64 to 162 form part of these financial statements. FOAE162E PRE MBI A FS ‘KR — B ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fo ey TH A e FLAth 2 i M 2t %

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZE_=_F=-A=1+—HIFE G

2023 2022
Notes $°000 $°000
=3 Fiz Fz
Profit for the year FRER - 1275460 17,547
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKES
for the year 10
Item that will not be reclassified FEEM S EEEmAVEL -
subsequently to profit or 10ss:
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEERE
other comprehensive income TREE-—ATERE
- net movement in fair value reserve B3R EH) (357 (867)
Items that may be reclassified HE A gEE# 7 E B Y
subsequently to profit or 0Ss: EH
Exchange differences on translation HMEBINETERE 7 E 4R
of foreign operations (13,765) 3,247
Cash flow hedges — net movement REREH P —HHTHEE
in hedging reserve By E) 6,692 25,556
o (7o73) 28,803
Other comprehensive income FAHMEEKE
for the year, net of tax NpRIRIE . (8430 27,936
Total comprehensive income FRAZEMKEHLLE
for the year 1,267,030 45,483

The notes on pages 64 to 162 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wR e MBHIR LR

As at 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RN_E-=F=F=+—H CUEAm

2023 2022
—EZ=H =BT
Notes $000 $000
gz FiT FiT
Non-current assets ERHEE
Fixed assets EE&E
— Investment properties —RKEME 15 4,594,220 4,453,700
- Property, plant and equipment — W RE KR 15 837,043 817,064
5,431,263 5,270,764
Deferred tax assets IR THE B oAc)(ii) 71,306 44,698
Intangible assets EREE 500 500
Derivative financial instruments TTEERITA 22 5,857 =
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESAEMEEREZ
other comprehensive income THEE 9,665 11,022
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZTHEE
profit or loss 9,591 8,932
5528182 ¢ °335916
Current assets REEE
Inventories of properties MEEFS 16 1,727,828 4,133,991
Contract assets EHEE 17(3) 46,317 257,844
Trade and other receivables & W BR = Ry ELth & Wt =R IE 18 233,051 247,091
Tax recoverable AR ERIE o)) 3,063 2,055
Restricted and pledged deposits SRR EEFEER 79 386,367 583,743
Cash and bank balances RS RIRTTAERR 79 225,434 113,090
2,622,060 °,337,814
Current liabilities REIAaE
Trade and other payables FE 1T BR R0 R ELth B {3 7R 1B 20 197,905 263,660
Contract liabilities BREE 17(b) 1,005 3,312,486
Bank loans RITER 21 770,948 4,906,937
Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA 22 - 1,317
Tax payable FE{TRIE o)) 265,821 1,943
o 1235679 ¢ 8,486,343
Net current assets/(liabilities) RMBEEE (AR) 1,386,381  (3,148,529)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTHERE - 6,914,563 2,187,387
(R E R A 2022/23% D9




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
R WMBHIRDLER (A7)

As at 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
N2 =F=A=1+—H GBI

2023 2022

—E-=HF BT THF

Notes $000 $000

HiaE FT F7T
Non-current liabilities ERHER

Bank loans BITEM 21 3,859,106 =

Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEE R AC)i) 73,624 60,999

Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA 22 - 839

o 3932730 61,838

NET ASSETS BEERE 2,981,833 2,125,549
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B4 R

Share capital (&N 24 14,198 14,196

Reserves HE 2,967,635 2,111,353

TOTAL EQUITY AR 2,981,833 2,125,549

On behalf of the Board KEEET
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi wah
[ FL.BA 2EE
Director Director
EF EF
The notes on pages 64 to 162 form part of these financial statements. FEOAENQ2BPFAH MBI A ;R FKR—E 0 ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZT=_F=-A=1+—HIFE CUETIIT)

Fair

Share Share Share option value Hedging Exchange Retained Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity

& BRERE ATERRE Eapol SMNEREE REEA g

Note $000 S0 $000 S0 $000

At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-EMA-H 14,196 91,541 = (1,651) (27,357) 1,675 2,399,134 2477538

Profit for the year FRiah] - - - - - = 17,547 17,547

Other comprehensive income EtZ2ERE 100) = = - (867) 25,556 3247 - 27,93

Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ERGEER - - - (867) 25,556 3,247 17,547 45483
Dividends approved in respect EREZEFERE

of the previous year 130) - - - - - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividends approved in respect EEZAFERE

of the current year 130) - - - - - - (340,690) (340,690)

At 31 March 2022 and RZEBZZEZA=+-Ak

1 April 2022 ZE_"EMA-H 14,196 91,541 - (2,518) (1,801) 4922 2,019,209 2,125,549

Profit for the year ERET - - - - - - 1275460 1,275,460

Other comprehensive income HEt2EkE 100) = = - (1,357) 6,692 (13,765) - (8,430)

Total comprehensive income for the year FRZAKGEE = = = (1,357) 6,692 (13,765) 1,275,460 1,267,030
Dividends approved in respect ERtEZLEERE

of the previous year 130) - - - - - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividends approved in respect EREZAFERE

of the current year 130) - - - - - - (369,081) (369,081)

Share-based payment expenses RIATTREE 33 - - 14,050 - - - - 14,050

Shares issuied upon exercise of share options T RAER H1THRID 2433 2 1,392 (327) - - - - 1,067

At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=A=+-H 14,198 92,933 13,723 (3,875) 4,891 (8,843) 2,868,806 2,981,833

The notes on pages 64 to 162 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

wie Bl i R R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZE_=_F=-A=1+—HIFE G

2023 2022
Notes $°000 $000
gz FiT Fr
Operating activities EEEH
Profit before taxation PRI AT F) 1,529,180 26,733
Adjustments for: A TR IEEH AR
— Interest income —FEWA 7(d) (12,576) (3,646)
- Dividend income from unlisted fund —FLMREEEHNREWA
investments 7(a) (722) (778)
— Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) —SNERHEUFESIE S (UES) 1,884 (1,265)
- Changes in fair value of financial assets —BATESFAEBGRZEHMEE
at fair value through profit or loss Z AT EEE 7(d) (483) (418)
— Loss on written-off of property, —MEEYZE BB KRR EZ B8
plant and equipment 7(a) 445 -
— Finance costs — AR A 8@) 105,092 58,846
- Depreciation —iTE 8(c) 40,343 28,385
— Write-down of inventories of properties —WEEE M 8(c) 52,358 7,984
— Impairment loss on trade receivables — BRI R ENEEDN
and contract assets BEEE 8(c) 318 216
— Changes in fair value of investment —REVMEQNTEED
properties /5] 23,872 (92,714)
- Share-based payment expenses — R 14,050 -
Operating profit before working EBEESEHAN
capital changes EiEER 1,753,761 23,343
Changes in working capital: EEESEE !
— Decrease/(increase) in inventories of —RL (g0 MEEE
properties 2,395,568 (572,614)
- Decrease in contract assets —BLENEE 213,486 60,027
- Decrease/(increase) in trade and other —iRL (Mg 0) KUK AR RN R H Ath
receivables &Y =R IE 13,631 (30,369)
— Decrease in restricted deposits — B DR RHITFER 31,663 210,530
- Decrease in trade and other payables — DT BRI Lt =R 1B (65,415) (97,427)
- (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilites  — GE“b) /tEmM&asaE (3,311,481) 434,457
Cash generated from operations EEELNIRSE 1,031,213 27,947
Tax paid BRI (6,154) (44,831)
Net cash generated from/(used in) EETHELE  FrA) M
operating activities REFE 1,025,059 (16,884)

62 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)

A BB R )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZT=_F=-A=1+—HIFE CUETIIT)

2023 2022
Notes $000 $000
3 F Fiz
Investing activities KREIEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB MR kR H (61,063) (3,780)
Expenditure on investment properties KREVERS (141,192) (258,950)
Interest received BUH S 12,304 3,646
Dividends received from unlisted fund BWIELTREEETHRE
investments 722 778
Acquisition of assets through acquisition of BBULEEKIBASIWEE &=
subsidiaries 23 - (318,297)
Release/(placement) of pledged deposits Bw (FEA) BERER 165,713 (41,864)
Net cash used in investing activities KREEEFFAZIRE S - (23,516)  (618467)
Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from bank loans IRITTEMPAERIE 1,606,238 4,700,393
Repayment of bank loans BIERITEM (1,883,121) (3,798,357)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BEF B R EMERRE (182,700) (128,971)
Exercise of share options TR AR AE 1,067 =
Dividends paid BEfRE (425,853) (397,462)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE FRA) EEzZ
financing activities REFEE - (884,369) 375,603
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERFEEEEYEM GRL)
cash equivalents HRE 117,174 (259,748)
Effect of foreign exchange SMEEREHHIRER
rate change on cash and HREEEYMHNEE
cash equivalents (4,830) 3,228
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNRERREEEY
the beginning of the year 113,090 369,610
Cash and cash equivalents at FRNAERREEEY
the end of the year 79 225,434 113,090

The notes on pages 64 to 162 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 F R B ik

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

1.

64

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of building construction, property leasing
and property development. The Company was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 14 August 2012 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The
Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9
August 2013.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 27.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs - effective
on 1 April 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA which are
relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 April 2022:

Reference to the
Cconceptual Framework

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and
HKAS 41

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material
impact on the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)
(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective
The following new/amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group's consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies’
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HK Presentation of Financial

Interpretation 5 (Revised) Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

f Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have significant impact on
the Group's result of operations and financial positions.

2. RMWEBMBREEYN @&

(b)

B8 {E i R E BV HTET A
CHE R

LUF B 1B & 2R 4 SRV ] S AR (8
ISRV BREERNEAERISRSR
HIRERABEEREMN  EE R ELAE
EEr=

BB REANF R SEBRKE

REBERHHRS
ZIBBRS
F25% (BF] %)
ERGHERNF THMEHNER
(EETA)
BRGE] HE-RPELZEER

g
F125% (B51F)  AEAWZELERE

BRMBREZER ERARNAERE

F165% (BET )

BREGHENF N REBIBAHRIN
(f57%) JEmEY

BRGHREANF N MR FRPar
(EETA)

EEREREN  MEBRRNER-ETA
(f51%) HEFRERBEER

NEHERN D

g R-_ZE_=F—HB—HR %M
ZEEHHER

2 RIZE-ME—HA—Hz&BH
ZEERRER

AEER LR FET RS
FERBZEE 25 2 Em AR
ZEERARAIENAERZEEE
BRUBRREEERT &

W PR A R A 2022/23% 8 OB



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

3.

66

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments, which are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

(continueq)

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and
assets meets the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular
set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes,
at a minimum, an input and substantive processes and
whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of
the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value unless another measurement basis
is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement period (a
maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

68

(@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss
on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: (i) power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and (i) the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In
determining whether de-facto control exists the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including:

o The size of the Company's voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who hold
voting rights;

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the
Company and other parties who hold voting rights;

o Other contractual arrangements; and
o Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 4(h)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

70

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(€)

(d)

Intangible assets

() Intangible assets acquired separately with indefinite
useful lives are initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is
fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, they
are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

Money lender license Indefinite

(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount (see note
4(h)).

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss (see note 4(g)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(€)

Hedging

cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction,
the effective portion of any gains or losses on re-
measurement of the derivative financial instrument to fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve.
The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to be included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated,
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively,
any cumulative gain or loss remains in equity at that time
is accounted for according to the nature of the underlying
transactions (as discussed above) once the hedged cash
flow occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that has been
reported in equity is reclassified to profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fixed assets

(f)

(i)

Investment properties and investment
properties under development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(g)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.

Investment properties and investment properties
under development are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain
or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(o)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AP R bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(f)

Fixed assets (continued)
(i) Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(h)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value, if any, over their estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each end of the reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Assets under construction are stated at cost less
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. They are
transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant
and equipment when the construction works complete
and are ready for use.

Where parts of an item of furniture, fixtures and other
fixed assets have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

8

Leased assets

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (i) leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.
All the leases entered by the Group are short-term and
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases which at the commencement date
have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain
purchase option. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term. The Group accounts for leasehold land and
buildings that are held for rental or capital appreciation
purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term
(see note 4(o)(iii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired:

4.

(h)

fixed assets (other than properties carried at fair
value); and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated.

(i)

(ii)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units, are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

76

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(continued)
(iij) Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

() Financial instruments

(M)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AP R bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or l0ss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

78

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL"): Financial
assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as
described above, debt instruments may be designated
at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment'’s
FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI
are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AP R bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

(i)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables, contract assets,
financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt
investments measured at FVOCI. ECLs are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12-months ECLS:
these are ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measure loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLS. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

80

)

(i)

(iir)

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets (continuead)

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers that a default event occurs when:
(1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2)
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

These liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank loans, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 4(q)).

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AP R bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iv)

)

(vi)

Effective interest method

Effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. Effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
COsts.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised initially
and measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the
fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1)

Inventories of properties

(i)  Properties under development
The cost of properties under development comprises
specifically identified cost, including acquisition cost
of land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to make be incurred in selling
the properties.

(i)  Properties held for sales

The cost of completed properties for sale comprises
the total land and development costs for that project,
being all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price, based on
prevailing market conditions, less estimated costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(1)

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

4.

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and

unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,

or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(f)
(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the end of the reporting period unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

4.

86

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a

net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure

expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(n)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

38

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i)  Revenue from building construction

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised by reference
to the stage of completion method, measured based
on the construction works performed, which are
certified by an independent professional architect,
relative to the estimated total contract sum. Invoices
are issued according to contractual terms and are
usually payable within 30 days. Uninvoiced amounts
are presented as contract assets.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable
will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

(0)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties is
recognised in the Group's consolidated statement
of profit or loss on the basis that control over the
ownership of the property has been passed to the
customer during the current accounting period,
which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all the benefits of the property. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under
contract liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Rental related income
Rental related income is recognised on an accrual
basis.

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the Group's right to receive payment
is established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
effective interest method.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

90

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(vii) Contract assets and liabilities (continued)

Contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by customers, or (i) the
customers retain retention money to secure the due
performance of the contracts. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade
receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the
customer. If the considerations (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue
recognised to date under the output method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

(viii) Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred
to fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the
following criteria:

- the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify;

- the costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

- the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the cost relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(p)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items forming
part of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

92

(p)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to

profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising

are recognised in the exchange reserve.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period

in which they are incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceased
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

completed.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

4.

(r)

(i)

(viii)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

94

(s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
assessed to determine if they are business or asset
acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the
Group chooses to apply a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is an asset rather
than business acquisition, when substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
do not constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is
allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities
based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.
An exception is when the sum of the individual fair values of
the identifiable assets and liabilities differs from the overall
acquisition cost. In such case, any identifiable assets and
liabilities that are initially measured at an amount other than
cost in accordance with the Group’s policies are measured
accordingly, and the residual acquisition cost is allocated to
the remaining identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(@) Valuation of investment properties and
investment properties under development
As described in note 15, investment properties and
investment properties under development are stated at fair
value based on valuation performed by an independent firm
of professional valuer.

In determining the fair value of investment properties and
investment properties under development, the valuer has
used a method of valuation which involves, inter-alia, certain
estimates including appropriate discount rates, capitalisation
rates and expected future market rents. In relying on the
valuation reports, management has exercised its judgement
and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.
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5.

96

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(b)

Revenue recognition from sale of properties

The Group has recognised revenue from sales of properties
during the year as disclosed in note 7. The assessment of
when an entity has transferred the control for promised
goods to customer requires examination of the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract. Typically, the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment from
purchaser for performance completed to date before the
transfer of legal title of the relevant property to purchaser.
The transfer of control of properties occurs usually when
the legal title was assigned to the purchaser, which coincide
the timing at which the balance of the purchase price has
been fully settled by and the keys to the property unit has
been given to the purchaser or purchaser’s solicitor. This
is the point of time at which most of the indicators for
the transfer of control have been met. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties
occurs when the purchasers obtained the legal title of the
completed property.

Construction contracts

The management reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses.

As explained in policy note 4(o)(i), revenue from construction
contracts is recognised over time on the basis of direct
measurements of the estimated value to the customers of
the services relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract to the performance completed to
date. Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in these
contracts, actual outcomes in terms of total revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to
date.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

(d)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are reviewed by
management at the end of each reporting period to
determine the expected credit losses. The management
bases the estimates on the historical credit 10ss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and assessments of both current and forecast general
economic conditions. Credit risk assessments focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability and willingness to pay, taking into
account the financial position of the customers and the
macroeconomic environment in which the customers
operate. The credit assessments also consider the status
of the construction project, i.e. whether there is any delay,
any unresolved lawsuits or contentious matters with
customers. If the financial conditions of the customers and/
or the macroeconomic environment were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to repay, additional
impairment provision may be required.

Estimated net realisable value of properties
under development and held for sale

Management reviews the net realisable value of the Group's
properties under development and held for sales with
reference to its estimated costs of completion and estimated
costs necessary to make the sale, intended use and
current market environment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds its net realisable value. Appropriate write-
down to estimated net realisable value is recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired.

5.

A 82 & 5t FI B R fh st R HEE R R A
FERE &

(d)

TR SR B PR A PR 2 \) 2022/234E )

FEWERARFM SN E ERE

EEEAESERS RS EKE
MEMENEE WEETRHAEES
B-BEENGEEERBEEEHRR
K REBEEBSANRERRRHE
Al TRt — A B AR B A 1T R
B-EHARTGETRERBEER
ARG RRENNRENNE
FE AL RIERNMBR RS
RIEENRE QKRR - S HFER
ZREZERBNNKR DE2EEEM
JERR > R RBORBVESFARAHEAZT R A
FENFE - NMRETLHFHR RN
SREBREERRSE ERHEEER
FENRB QIR BE B ZERINBRIE R
o

ERTYERFELENEZ
a5t AT IR E
BEREAEARBERBEMBETRE
EEEEZREBSNAIEEFE
EEEERBHEMGS TAME BT
BREMRETHERRERERP RS
EHEMEZAIBRFE WERH
EERTEECHE RIREREE
EEMMBEERGSIE2RFE I
PR m e SDHEE 2E o

97



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

98

(€)

Estimated net realisable value of properties
under development and held for sale (continued)
In determining whether write-down of properties under
development and held for sales is required, the Group
takes into consideration the intended use of the properties,
the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale, the current market environment,
the estimated market value of the properties and/or the
present value of future cash flows expected to receive.
Write-down is recognised based on the comparison
between net realisable value and the carrying amount. If
the market environment/circumstances or estimated costs
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the
sale changes significantly, resulting in a decrease in the
net realisable value of these properties interest, additional
write-down may be required. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amounts of properties under development and held
for sales are HK$1,727,828,000 (2022: HK$4,133,991,000)
(net of accumulated write-down of HK$60,342,000 (2022:
HK$7,984,000)).

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group's reportable segments:

Construction: construction of residential buildings,
commercial buildings and data centres for external
customers and group companies

Property leasing: leasing of data centres and commercial
shops

Property development: development and sale of properties
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segment’s profit that is used by
the chief operating decision-makers for assessment of segment
performance.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

= Segment assets include all tangible, non-current and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets,
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade payables, accruals and other current
and non-current liabilities attributable to the business
activities of the individual segments and bank borrowings
managed directly by the segments.

- Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. TEPERE (&
Segment revenue and results (a) PDEBNERER
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BEZZ-=F=A=+—HLEFE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing development elimination Total
B MERE MERE  SEBRIIEH o
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FT FT Fr Fir FT
Revenue from external customers R EMNBE G (88,954) 243,072 4,850,442 - 5,004,560
Inter-segment revenue A B 239,305 30,729 - (270,034) -
Segment revenue war=i1 G 150,351 273,801 4,850,442 (270,034) 5,004,560
Segment results NEEE (162,389) 144,808 1,742,001 (28,620) 1,695,800
Unallocated other income ROEEMBA
and gain, net Rla35 (4,049)
Unallocated expenses RAETH (34,090)
Changes in fair value of financial ~ BAFEtABEZ SHEEZ
assets at fair value through NFEEE
profit or 10ss 483
Changes in fair value of investment  REY) %2 AT EEE)
properties (23,872)
Finance costs B RRAS (105,092)
Profit before taxation SRR AR A 1,529,180
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_Z__F=R=1+—HILEE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing  development elimination Total
fea MERE MEERE DR 45t
$oo0 $000 $0oo S00o Sooo
Fi7 Fi F77 77 77
Revenue from external customers  REIMNBE Bz 395,521 200,687 221,659 = 817,867
Inter-segment revenue DR 265,225 32,037 - (297,262) -
Segment revenue A 660,746 232,724 221659 (297,26) 817,867
Segment results NEEE 37,844 122,125 (39,565) (109,520) 10,884
Unallocated other income KAREMBA
and gain, net Rl %8 5813
Unallocated expenses RAEZH (24,250)
Changes in fair value of financial AT EFABRZ SHEEL
assets at fair value through NFEEE
profit or 10ss 418
Changes in fair value of investment R E% 2 AT EEE)
properties 92,714
Finance costs BB (58,846)
Profit before taxation FifAnRF 26,733
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DIHRE #E)
va

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) BEEKREE
2023 2022
2= =S
$°000 $000
SETE Frz
Segment assets DNEEE

Construction BE 90,027 296,753
Property leasing MEMRE 5,264,277 4,985,880
Property development MEZR 1,896,165 4,834,441
Total segment assets MWOHEE 7,250,469 10,117,074
Other financial assets HithsMEE 19,256 19,954
Deferred tax assets FIEIRIBE 71,306 44,698
Tax recoverable AU [E IR IE 3,063 2,055
Unallocated office premises ROEMAEYE 374,537 383,042

Unallocated head office and corporate RO BARA B R{E#£EE
assets 316,729 86,344
Unallocated cash and bank balances kO BECIR & K RITAS 6F 114,882 20,563
Consolidated total assets REMmEE 8,150,242 10,673,730

Segment liabilities bR B=RE

Construction e 366,461 433,450
Property leasing MERE 813,386 1,136,898
Property development MEER 1,463,831 4,446,624
Total segment liabilities woas 2,643,678 6,016,972
Tax payable FETHRIE 265,821 1,943
Deferred tax liabilities FIEIRIE B 1A 73,624 60,999

Unallocated head office and b A iw /NIl T =K
corporate liabilities 93,151 106,343
Unallocated bank loans XDEIRITER 2,092,135 2,361,923
Consolidated total liabilities Remas 5,168,409 8,548,180
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continuea) 6. DEI®E B
(c) Other segment information (c) HithoIER
Property Property
Construction leasing development Unallocated Total
BE NERE NELR RAE @t
2023 02 2023 2022 2023 0 2023 2022 2023 o,
Z¥IZE CZ%CCf ZRIZE CSCCf IZEIZE TSI IZRIZE TSI IZEIZE ZEICE
000 000 5000 0 5000 000 5000 S0 5000 000
7 777 Fr 77 T 7 T 7z 7 F7
Additions to non-current  FREENE
segment assets PIEE 175 478 164,392 274877 - 43% 60,888 22715 225,455 278,066
(d) Geographic information (d) @&
All of the Group’s revenue from external customers KEBMBRBINBE RN TR
are generated from customers located in Hong Kong. BAIREBNE R o MAE B 48K
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets (other BIERBEE CEEREREMTA
than deferred tax assets and financial instruments) are also FRIN) TRAIA BB ©

located in Hong Kong.

(e) Information about major customers e) ERAFERRAHEN
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total ERAEBRBARZTI0%U EHNETEZ
revenue of the Group is as follows: Wil
2023 2022
—E-= B F
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Customer A’ BEEA N/A RiEH 380,740
1 The revenue was derived from building construction. L WaRBEFRE

1 02 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. NEHSE E
(f) Timing of revenue recognition (f) W7 Fe o0 Ber
Construction Property leasing Property development Total
e WERE ES EH
2023 2023 2023 2023 202
-t —ECCE —¥_Zf —% ZEIZE CZECCE
5000 5000 5000 000 5000 $000
¥ 7 7 F7 o F7 F7
Ata point in time RE-mEE - - - — 4850442 221659 4,850,442 221459
Transferred over time REEHER (88,954) 395521 38,500 28,118 = - (50454) 423639
Revenue from other sources REEMFRN Y - = 204,572 172,569 - = 204,572 172,569
(88950) 95521 243072 200687 4850442 221659 5004560 817867
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 7. WEUEEMUWA R EFEE
Revenue which is derived from the Group’s principal activities and KEAERR TS EHBNREUAREMBA
other income and gain, net during the year is analysed as follows: KRR FEDITWT -
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) Wz
2023 2022
—EC=HE B F
$000 $000
o FT
Revenue from contracts with customers &E#H 53R E 2R F155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEINNER &G
Sales of properties Y E 4,850,442 221,659
Revenue from building construction (Note) ~ BFEE N (52) (88,954) 395,521
Rental related income FHEAEREUCA 38,500 28,118
Revenue from other sources H sk RrI UL =
Rental income HEWA 204,572 172,569
5,004,560 817,867
Note: &t
For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from building BE_T_-—F-RB=-+—HILFE 12

construction included a reversal of revenue of $165,471,000 due
to cumulative catch-up adjustments arising from the change in
estimates in contract assets during the year (note 17(a)). This
related to a construction project which the Group was engaged
as the main contractor in 2019. During the contract period, the
Group was instructed by the customer to carry out certain variation
orders and those variation orders were performed by the Group
accordingly. Construction works were completed and the process of
negotiation of final accounts of the project were carried out during
the year. The customer did not agree the transaction price of certain
variation orders with the Group. The aforesaid event rendered
a change of estimate in the transaction price and consequently
a reduction of an amount of approximately $165,471,000 was
included in the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

:_FLLH& EEFARGNEEGES
RS s ELE N RBBEREEMmD &K=
165,471,0007¢ (FiE£17(a)) o Ith 82— 1@
SIEEAR 2&%.5’\_‘ —NFEZE
RZBBEABE TEAHN AEE
SEEIETHITETENIE mMAER
NETHZEENIBE - BRETREE R
T Iﬁﬁﬁiiﬁﬁﬁ/?ﬁﬁ'\ﬁﬁw_ﬁ?ﬁu%’
MEAREERAE R P E I D BT BN
Q%1§$§°tﬁt$l§§ﬁ3&%1ﬁpﬁﬁ'}ﬁ§
Hjiﬁﬁit’ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁzi&%@%i'ﬂﬁ’ﬁ
AEEBEE_Z_=F=F=+—HIHF
Ema EF‘?EIF?QJ%S 471,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

7.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET
(continued)

(b)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group's existing contracts is
approximately $139.8 million (2022: $5,356.3 million). This
amount represents revenue expected to recognise in the
future from construction contracts and sales and purchase
agreements from sales of properties entered into with
customers. The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
the future when or as the work is completed, or control over
the ownership of the property has been passed to customer.
These are expected to occur over the next 12 months.

Details of contract liabilities
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

7.

Waas AR U A R W s 78 88 (8)

(b)

AEITERAEE
WZE2_=F=B=+—H> 2k
REBREGHNBHETNRGR
SIBRMEEEEMN.398E T (B2 -
£ 53.563fE7T) o bR KRIRBER
FPHAEEEETEZEEGORYE
HESHNR R FEST R REBAIUA ©
AEBRBEAERLE T _BEBEREEL
SR ZEYENEERERICTTE
P EFRESRIEEFEHAUA ©

CEAEEER
FEEEREIUTREHERZANE

contract liabilities: & :
2023 2022
—E-= =
$000 $000
FiT FiT
Contract liabilities aHEE 1,005 3,312,486
Significant changes in contract liabilities SHEEBEAXEE)

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from deposits
from sale of properties made by the customers while the
underlying control over the ownership of properties are yet
to be passed. Such liabilities decrease as a result of transfer
of control over the properties to the customers during the
year.

1 04 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 7. WEUKREMBARKIEEEE (&)

(continueq)
(d) Other income and gain, net d) HUAKRUWmFEEE
2023 2022
2= =S
$°000 $000
FT FiT
Bank interest income RITH B WA 12,576 3,646
Dividend income from unlisted JELEHREESHREWA
fund investments 722 778
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain SNERIS (B518) WaE (18,106) 1,265
Forfeited deposits B2 WETE 2,801 4,216
Changes in fair value of financial BAFEFABGZESMEEL
assets at fair value through N EED)
profit or loss 483 418
Government subsidy (note) B fE8L (52) 3,743 -
Loss on written-off of property, a2 R B R sk 2 518
plant and equipment (445) -
Others H1th 4,529 10,724
6,303 21,047
Note: i

I ERIEIE B B AT E BT &P
BEEEmnEsTE (RMESE) B
B AREMAERESNFE RERF
WLZE ST B > 7 5 [ 2R KGR S A R AR 1S 2 Y
o BREERHANTSHAESAME
RIS HETE 7K T o 7 6 [ 4% B G 51 81 A R
NERKRBITEE

The amount represents the government grants obtained from
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic
Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the
payroll of the Group's employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to
commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce
employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period
of time. The Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations relating
to this program.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8.
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

PR

Al g8 #)

BRIRANERI B GIA) U TRIE

2023 2022
== ==
$000 $000
FiT FT
(a) Finance costs (@) B4R
Interest on bank loans and other RTERNEREMEES
borrowing costs BN 182,700 128,971
Less: Amounts included in construction B ETATERRESAN
contracts in progress SRE — (8,335)
Amounts capitalised* BEARCEEE* (77,608) (61,790)
105,092 58,846
(b) staff costs (including directors’ (b) BIkE (BIFEFHM)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 139,700 141,414
Share-based payment expenses RN e 14,050 —
Contributions to defined contribution REMFCRARET B 2 HR
retirement plans 2,834 3,000
156,584 144,414
Less: Amounts included in construction B ETATERRESAN
contracts in progress B = (38,637)
Amounts capitalised BARMCEEE (76,561) (73,775)
80,023 32,002
(c) Other items (c) HMIER
Cost of inventories recognised ERAaEZZ
as expenses FEmA 2,827,198 199,484
Direct operating expenses arising BEHEWAZREYEE
from investment properties that FEEKERE
generated income 98,389 87,607
Impairment loss on YRR R E N EERN
trade receivables (note 29(a)) RERIE WaE29a)) 318 216
Write-down of inventories of MEFE Z MR
properties 52,358 7,984
Depreciation (note 15) ITE WE15) 40,343 28,385
Short term leases expenses FRHAAERS = 988
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEMBN &
- audit services —BEHART 1,384 1,341
- other services —H MRS 156 148
@ The borrowing costs have been capitalised at the range of 5.21% to * BERAIREES21%E6.46% (ZE -

6.46% (2022: 2.05% to 3.06%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

9.

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

FRiS

(@)

Mz i
mEEmRARFERE -

2023 2022
—E-= =S
$°000 $000
FT F7T
Current tax BNHAFR1E
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FREBFSRER
for the year 268,321 13,220
Under/(over)-provision in respect BEEERBIR (BREEB
of prior years 703 (1,148)
269,024 12,072
Deferred tax IRIEFRIE
Credited to profit or loss for the year st AREERBZH
(note 9(c)(iy) (Bt £9(c)i)) (15,304) (2,886)
253,720 9,186

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate 16.5% (2022:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for the first $2,000,000 of qualified group
entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%), which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and the Cayman lIslands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the statutory tax rate of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2022: 25%). The Group had
not generated any taxable profits in the PRC during the year
(2022: Nil).

ERAMNERILIUNRNEBEENMGEET
FEERIEFIL16.5% (B —F .
16.5%) 2MEE BME}FEW&
HFERE cERERAERZE
2,000,0007c FE SRR m F19%8.25% (&
T 1 825%) 2 IREETEN
RIFEBREZEERFBESEENSRA
KRB A5 B BB AN B R B
ENBEEEENTMAMER-

RiEPEEARAME (THE) BF
PRIGHUE (TR EFTSIRIEL) KRB ERR
BREBERES  AEEFENEL
BIREEMER25% (T
25%) Z!K%IE’\EEW]UM_EPIEE
ERERREN CE__F 8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

9. FREMXE @&
Reconciliation between income tax expenses and (b)
accounting profit before taxation at applicable

BRRERERIFSHHR
PRIGAIE sHiE T R H AR

tax rate:
2023 2022
== =
$°000 $000
F5T FiT
Profit before taxation PRI ADEF 1,529,180 26,733
Notional tax on profit before taxation, (ZERNEMEIAEEE ZiHf]
calculated at the rate applicable ZHRESEZRIE
to the profits in the jurisdictions
concerned 249,816 2,818
Effect of non-taxable income EERNMANZE (6,340) (29,790)
Effect of non-deductible expenses AR R B o 2 427 34,215
Effect of unused tax losses not KERNIBEBENZE
recognised 9,114 3,091
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFERELIR (BERE)
prior years 703 (1,148)
Income tax expenses FrigiR sz 253,720 9,186
Income tax in the consolidated statement of () HFEMBRRERANREIRE !
financial position represents:
(i)  current taxation ZHIRE
2023 2022
—E-= =S
$’000 $000
Fz FT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits A& B F)125R B
Tax for the year 268,321 13,220
Provisional Profits Tax paid BN EHFER (5,563) (13,332)
262,758 (112)
Represented by: B
2023 2022
—E-= B fF
$’000 $000
F5T FiT
Tax recoverable BEEGE (3,063) (2,055)
Tax payables FETIRIE 265,821 1,943
262,758 (112)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FRSMZH (&
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of () FEMBIRAKRANRERE

financial position represents: (continuead) (#)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (i) EBEZEEREEEREE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities LR A SRR R AR VIR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial IERIE (BEE) /BB 4R
position and the movements during the year are as DRAFENEBUT !
follows:

Depreciation Depreciation

allowances in in excess of Write-
excess of the  the related down of
related depreciation  inventories Hedging
Deferred tax arising from: BIERERS : depreciation  allowances of properties Tax loss reserve Total
WERRE MEAKER MEERZ
ARHERMITE  WERRE HHR RIARE Hihf 43t
$000 $000 $ooo $000 3 U/OO 5 'QOU
At 1 April 2021 RIEZ—FMB—H 54,392 (1,404) = (33,446) (5,405) 14,137
Charged to other comprehensive IR E 2 ERE
income - - - - 5,050 5,050
Charged/(credited) to the profitor 3B}/ (Gt A) 8%
loss 7,236 (56) (1,996) (8,070) - (2,886)
At 31 March 2022 and RIZEZZ#=ZA=+-HK
1 April 2022 ZE_#MA-R 61,628 (1,460) (1,996) (41,516) (355) 16,301
Charged to other comprehensive IR E 2 ERE
income - - - - 1,321 1,321
Charged/(credited) to the profitor 1B}/ (Gt A) 8%
loss 11,210 (27,589) (10,852) 11,927 = (15,304)
At 31 March 2023 RZ2-=f=R=+-H 72,838 (29,049) (12,848) (29,589) 966 2,318
2023 2022
—E°= - =
$’000 $000
F72 Tz
Net deferred tax assets EFEE MR R R AERRN
recognised on the IRIETRIE S R ER
consolidated statement of
financial position (71,306) (44,698)
Net deferred tax liabilities EiR S MBI R ARERAY
recognised on the FIERIE B (EFRE
consolidated statement of
financial position 73,624 60,999
2,318 16,301
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FRiFMXZEH &)

(d) At 31 March 2023, the Group has not recognised deferred (d)
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of $517,061,000
(2022: $461,822,000) as it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation.

RIEZ=F=HA=1+—H HRX
TRE R A A S AP BE B S I 8H R 1
BRRIEEE > AEBLESARER
BIIRIERS$8517,061,0007 (Z T - =
£ 1 461,822,007T) RIERIBE
E-BBERITRE AH > MBEBELR
gEHRE R

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10. HithZ2mEmia=
(@) Tax effects relating to cash flow hedges included (a) BRFFAHMEEWENIRE
in other comprehensive income: MEHATNRBLE
2023 2022
—EC=HF —EC_F
$000 $000
F FrT
Pre-tax amount IRIG A £ 28 8,013 30,606
Tax charged MIES H (1,321) (5,050)
Net-of-tax amount RIS B £ 6,692 25,556
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, (b) HMZ2mEmUWABHERE D (B
including reclassification adjustments S0 ERE)
2023 2022
—EZ= -
$’000 $000
F FT
Cash flow hedges: WEREH 7
Effective portion of changes in FREEDNEFTRERFE
fair value of hedging instruments B WE D
recognised during the year 8,013 30,606
Net deferred tax charged to other Hin2mWmNRIEIERIE
comprehensive income (1,321) (5,050)
Net movement in the hedging reserve 72 E.{th 2 Ui & PO B R 5 P9 3
during the year recognised in other EEEB)FER
comprehensive income 6,692 25,556
Exchange difference on translating MEBINETFRE R ERE
foreign operations (13,765) 3,247
Changes in fair value of financial BAFESFAEMEEREZ
assets at FVOCI ETHMEBEZ AT EEE (1,357) (867)
(8,430) 27,936
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRISERRSN > LUBTTHIT)

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

11. EEFHN

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as

ENRENTFELESZHMMOT

follows:
2023
ZECZHE
Basic salaries,
allowances Share-based  Retirement
and benefits payment scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses expenses contributions Total
BEAHE
2R )
ik BE B4 A A S (A st
$'000 $°000 $000 $000 $000 $000

F F F ¥ ¥ F
Executive Directors HTES
Chan Hung Ming FR7LBH - 2,774 688 - - 3,462
Lau Chiwah fEE = 2,774 688 1,212 18 4,692
Yuen Ying Wai’ RER - 1,168 274 - 8 1,450
Kwan Wing Wo Rk - 2,696 652 1,212 18 4,578
Tsang Ka Man? Eg - 447 - 1,212 6 1,665
Independent BIFRTES

Non-Executive Directors

Tsui Ka Wah frxE 392 - 97 242 - 731
Kan Yau Wo B 392 - 97 242 - 731
Mok Kwai Pui Bill# BEE 292 - 97 - - 389
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny e 392 - 97 242 - 731
Ho Chiu Yin Ivan? Ao 100 - - - - 100
Total ot 1,568 9,859 2,690 4,362 50 18,529

[ Mr. Yuen Ying Wai retired as an executive Director on 7 August 2022

2 Ms. Tsang Ka Man appointed as an executive Director on 15
December 2022
g Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill resigned as an independent non-executive

Director on 1 January

2023

4 Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan appointed as an independent non-executive

Director on 1 January

2023

! REREENZZZZF/\BtHERER

TE=

2 BESL TR _E-"F£+"A+HH%E

ZERTES

2 BEREENR_BE_=F—FB—A#HIE

TIERITES

¢ ABACEN S _=F—FB—BEZT

BIFRTES

TR SR B PR A PR 2 \) 2022/234E )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

1. EFHM &)

2022
Basic salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind Bonuses  contributions Tota
BEXHE
EU K
ok EMER B4l RIREEIER st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Executive Directors HTER
Chan Hung Ming BR7LAA - 2,654 655 - 3,309
Lau Chi Wah fEE - 2,654 655 18 3,327
Yuen Ying Wai RER - 2738 655 18 341
Kwan Wing Wo fAK A - 2,586 621 18 3225
Independent BUFRTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah hxE 374 - 92 - 466
Kan Yau Wo BRA 374 - 92 - 466
Mok Kwai Pui Bill EER 374 - 92 - 466
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRIE 374 - 92 - 466
Total F 1,496 10,632 2,954 54 15,136

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year. No director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The Company did not operate any share option scheme for the
purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the years
ended 31 March 2022.

Details of the share option scheme for the purchase of ordinary

shares in the Company operated during the year ended 31 March
2023 are disclosed in note 33.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12.

INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

@)

Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2023 include 3 (2022: 4) directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals is as
follows:

IaREHMALTREREZREM

=
@)

A HMA TN E

HE_Z_=F#=H=+—HIL=HE
ErAEBRURSHMALEIED
Z(CE_—F 0% &5 Hile
P11 EE - Her A TBIEN S 4258

LI

2023 2022
—E_= =
$°000 $000
FiT FoT
Salaries, allowances and E e =AY
benefits in kind EYEF 5,746 3,187
Discretionary bonuses PIBTEAL 1,374 761
Share-based payment expenses AR TR 1,212 =
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEHFR 36 18
8,368 3,966
The above individual’'s emoluments are within the following AT ZESHEEDT
band:
2023 2022
—E-= B
Number of Number of
individuals indiviauals
AZ A Z
$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 3,500,001t &4,000,00075 - 1
$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 4,000,001t &4,500,00075 2 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

HEZ_Z_="F=-"B=+—HI%F

£ > A & B 5 M (E ) B L & = &
AT ERAMEERRSIMAEE
B S H 0 A 25 B RS RO B2 D B 1R A Bt
BEECT "8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(b)

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of the Directors and five
highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 11 and 12(a), the
emoluments of the remaining senior management fell within
the following bands:

12. AAEEHMALTRSHKEERMH

(b)

SR EIEEME

BRISHIEE1 IR 12@FTIREEN ES KA
UREHMA LRI EIN SR TSR
EEEMEER THIEERA

2023 2022
—_E= =g
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A& A&

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017t %£2,000,0007T
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001t %£3,000,0007%

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of its senior
management as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
(@) Dividends attributable to the year: (@ BREAFENEKRE :
2023 2022
2= T
$’000 $000
=7 FiT
Special interim dividend declared of BEEIREZMHRRFAERE
20.0 HK cents (2022: 20.0 HK cents) & 1220.07811
per share (ZZE =45 :200%1) 283,908 283,908
Interim dividend declared and BEIRKESZAHEERE
paid of 6.0 HK cents FROEBW (CE_Z
(2022: 4.0 HK cents) per share 40781 85,173 56,782
Final dividend proposed after the end MR EHIRBREZIRE 2
of the reporting period of 5.0 HK FEAR B ER5.0781
cents (2022: 4.0 HK cents) per share (TEZZF  40E1L) 71,006 56,782
Special dividend proposed after the REEHREBEZRREZ
end of the reporting period of 5B BE 2SR50
15.0 HK cents (2022: Nil) per share (CEZ—F ) 213,018 -
653,105 397,472
The final and special dividends proposed after the end of the WEARBERBEIKE Z R RR
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability at the B AERSHRERAEE.
end of the reporting period.
(b) Dividends attributable to the previous financial (b) mFEEHERZFBER E—E
year, approved and paid during the year: MHFEENRKS :
2023 2022
—E-= T
$°000 $000
FT FIr
Final dividend in respect of the RAFERERZ T E—
previous financial year, approved MBFERARESRKR0EN
and paid during the year of 4.0 HK (ZEZZF 4081
cents (2022: 4.0 HK cents) per share 56,782 56,782
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@)

Reported earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
company of $1,275,460,000 (2022: $17,547,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,419,599,000 shares (2022:
1,419,542,000 shares) in issue during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the calculation of the
basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the

14. SKREF

(@)

IREFT~ZERET
SREABATLIRBEAABDRRIZE
FE{E 3% F1,275,460,00070 (Z B - —
£ 1 17,547,00070) M EREZEITRD
BRI HE T 9 801,419,599,000/8 (— =&
4 1 1,419,542,00008) 5t & o

BE_Z_-—F-RA=+—HLEE
ERE)RERREGNSRER R #

ordinary equity holders of the Company for the year is based SERATHRE TSRS .
on the following data:
2023 2022
—EC=HF —EC_F
$000 $000
Fi FT
Earnings: &BF
Profit for the year attributable KA B B R R s F
to equity shareholders of the
company 1,275,460 17,547
2023 2022
—E-= B HF
‘000 ‘000
TR FhR
Number of shares: &S :
Weighted average number of ordinary stHEESRELRRF 2 BT
shares in issue for the purpose of LB T8
basic earnings per share 1,419,599 1,419,542
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary %HQ*EFE?%&Z%%EHQZ
shares on share options BEEETE 944 =
Weighted average number of ordinary st ESRE# SR 2 ZiER
shares in issue for the purpose of INHETEHE
basic earnings per share 1,420,543 1,419,542

The diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2023 is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
Company’s potentially dilutive ordinary shares comprised on
share options.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(@)

Reported earnings per share (continued)

The diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2022 are the same as the basic earnings per share as
the Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in
existence.

Underlying earnings/(loss) per share

For the purpose of assessing the underlying performance
of the Group, basic and diluted underlying earnings/(loss)
per share are also presented based on the underlying
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of $1,299,332,000 (2022: loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of $75,167,000), which
excludes the effects of changes in fair value of investment
properties. A reconciliation of the underlying profit/(loss) is

as follows:

14.

sREH (&)

@) ERBFmZESRET (B

BREE_ZT -

F=A=+—HLt

FETEASBECAREZEZEE
RskBERNASRERET]

EIEKS

(b) GEREF, (B8)

FRTErERZEREF KRR &
REREF, (BR) ZREAQE#E
m R R G ER G BRI EY
ENTEEEZTE) 1,299,332,0007T
(CEZZF  ARERERREMN
}§51875,167,00070) stE KR EE 25!
ERas), (B8 ZHEROT !

2023 2022
—EZ= -
$’000 $000
F FT
Profit for the year F A F) 1,275,460 17,547
Changes in fair value of investment KREME R FEES
properties 23,872 (92,714)
Underlying profit/(loss) for the year EREREN (5B 1,299,332 (75,167)
HK Cents HK Cents
El B
Underlying earnings/(loss) per share SRERRTF (B8
- Basic —ExK 91.53 (5.30)
- Diluted — 91.47 (5.30)

A R A 20227236 117



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS 15. BIEEE
Furniture,
Investment fixtures
properties Buildings and
Investment under held for other fixed
properties  development Sub-total own use assets Sub-total Total
BRH FiRRER
BREME BREME NGt BERME HtETEE NGt st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
F7 F7 F7 F7 F7 F F
Cost or valuation: PG
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_FME—H 3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 868,708 64,356 933,064 5,386,764
Additions AE 12,784 151,608 164,392 54,927 6,136 61,063 225,455
Written-off/disposal /e = = = = (33,966) (33,966) (33,966)
(Deficity/surplus on revaluation &1k (§538) /Bék (222,784) 198,912 (23,872) - - - (23,872)
Exchange adjustment EREE - = = (695) (32) (727) (727)
At 31 March 2023 RIECZEZASH-H 3761000 833200 4594220 922940 36494 959434 5553654
Representing: Ll
Cost (B - - - 922,940 36,494 959,434 959,434
Valuation fafE 3,761,000 833,220 4,594,220 - - - 4,594,220
3,761,000 833,220 4,594,220 922,940 36,494 959,434 5,553,654
Accumulated depreciation: E3HfE :
At 1 April 2022 RZE__FNA—H - - - 77,450 38,550 116,000 116,000
Charge for the year (notes(c) — ERX%H (H178(c) - - - 21,466 18,877 40,343 40,343
Written back on written-off/ ~ #fis4,/tH E B ]
disposal - - - - (33,521) (33,521) (33,521)
Exchange acjustment ERER - - - (425) (6) (431) (431)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A=+—H - - - 98,491 23,900 122,391 122,391
Net book value: IREFE
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A=+—H 3,761,000 833,220 4,594,220 824,449 12,594 837,043 5,431,263
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continuea) 15. BIEEE (&)
Furn \tUV’C,
Investment fixtures
properties Buildings and
Investment under held for other fixed
properties  development Sub-tota own Use assets Sub-tota Tota
REME / gt B 7 INat st
$000 $000 $o00 $000 $000 $000 $000
Cost or valuation: PAER{EE
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FME—H 3,688,000 398,700 4,086,700 868,383 60,576 928,959 5,015,659
Additions AE 234,394 39,892 274,286 - 3,780 3,780 278,066
Surplus on revaluation BRE 48,606 44,108 92,714 - - - 92,714
Exchange adjustment ERHEE - - - 325 - 325 325
At 31 March 2022 RIEZZF=F=+—-H 3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 868,708 64,356 933,064 5,386,764
Representing: Bl
Cost B - - - 868,708 64,356 933,064 933,064
Valuation 4@ 3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 - - - 4,453,700
3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 868,708 64,356 933,064 5,386,764
Accumulated depreciation:  EtiFE :
At 1 April 2021 RIZ2--FMNE—H - - - 59,691 28,383 88,574 88,574
Charge for the year (mote8(c) — ERH (Hz28() - - - 18,718 9,667 28,385 28,385
Exchange adjustment ERAE - - = (959) = (959) (959)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ£=A=1-H - - - 77,450 38,550 116,000 116,000
Net book value: IREFE:
At 31 March 2022 RIB2ZZE=F=1+—H 3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 791,258 25,806 817,064 5,270,764
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties and
investment properties under development is Level 3
recurring fair value measurements. The movement of these
balances are as follows:

15. BEE

@)

BE (@

AEBIRANER B RANE

02 {8 8 = AR AT A F Bt
B ILSEHNBHNT

2023 2022

== CECF

$000 $000

Fi FrT

At 1 April RmUAE—H 4,453,700 4,086,700

Additions NE 164,392 274,286

Fair value adjustment N EHE (23,872) 92,714

At 31 March R=B=+—H 4,594,220 4,453,700
The fair value adjustment of investment properties and SEMERERTPRENENATE
investment properties under development is recognised in BERGEEGTNREMEZA

the line item “Changes in fair value of investment properties”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3.

The Group's investment properties and investment
properties under development were revalued at the
reporting date by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited,
an independent firm of qualified professional valuer, who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, on a market value
basis. The management of the Group has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim and
annual reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(@  (continued)

15. BEE

@)

The following table shows the significant unobservable

inputs used in the valuation model:

BE (B8

()

NBBREES ZNERTAIHE
g -

Properties Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs Adopted rate/value
YES hER % AR BRYE L=
2023 2022
—ET--F T F
Investment properties
RENE
- Data centres Income approach - discounted  Risk-adjusted discount rate 7.75% 7.75%
—HEAL cash flow analysis BBRREALIRE
WAE-BERIBEREN
Expected market rental growth 3.5% 3.5%
REmMBHSER
Expected occupancy rate 94%-100% 100%
RErHEE
Capitalisation rate 4.25% 4.25%
BARMEX
- Commercial shop Market comparison method Market unit sale rate, and taking into $34,842 per $35,735 per
—H# [iEE A w account of location and square feet square feet
size factors BEAR SEER
MHERUHRAE KRR 34,8427T 35,7357C

The fair value of investment properties-data centre is
determined on the basis of capitalisation of discounted
cash flow analysis by discounting a projected cash flow
series associated with the properties using risk-adjusted
discount rates. The valuation takes into account expected
market rental growth and occupancy rates of the properties.
The discount rates used have been adjusted for the quality
and location of the buildings and the tenant credit quality.
The fair value measurement of investment properties is
positively correlated to the expected market rental growth
and the occupancy rate and negatively correlated to the
risk-adjusted discount rate and capitalisation rate.

REME-BEFOLZATFEDRE
MRFEEREBERCOINERE > B/
DA LAGE A R R SR R A B R AL IR B
EYERBAN—RIFFRAREZRE -
MEEZEIZFYENRATSES
EERHER - EANERERERE
BRARENERRME KRB FHE
BEBER REVENAFEFE
SRS ESERREAREER
AR MARREELRERRER
EXE2aEMERME-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The fair value of investment properties-commercial
shops is determined on the basis of assuming sale of the
property interest in its existing state by making reference
to comparable sale transactions as available in the relevant
market. The valuation is subject to suitable adjustments
between the subject property and the comparable
properties. The fair value measurement of investment
properties-commercial shops is positively correlated to the
market unit sale rate.

The fair value of investment properties under development
are determined using residual method. This method involves
firstly the assessment of gross development value, which
is determined using the same basis and adopted rates
(except for expected occupancy rate) in determining the fair
value of investment properties, on the assumption that the
property had already been completed in accordance with
the current development plan on the valuation date, less the
estimated development costs together with an allowance
for developer's profits and risk. The expected occupancy
rate adopted for determining the gross development value is
79%-83% (2022: 87%-89%). The resultant residue figure is the
fair value.

Estimated costs to completion, including costs of
construction, land premium on lease modification,
professional fee and associated costs, plus an allowance for
developer's risk and profit, are estimated by the valuer based
on market conditions at the reporting date.

The fair value measurement of investment properties
under development is positively correlated to the expected
monthly rental, market rental growth and occupancy
rate, and negatively correlated to the estimated cost to
completion of $2.080 billion (2022: $2.303 billion).
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@)

(&)
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LB R BFHEERE -RE
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ZIEHERM -
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BT olbtH BRI HEERERE R
FAOETREYENATE—RNEE
MM ELE (BT HAERRIN) > WR
BYMEETHEBERERNZERETE
ZE) NBREERRERZEBEMA
MEZERmzABRRRES 7
ZERBE N EE e AN HEEE
BENTETHBEEXEA79%-83% (Z&
& 1 87%-89%)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AP R bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

o)

15. EIEEE (&)

The Group leases out a number of building facilities under b FAEBRREBELEHESAHBEETE
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial term of Filtc ZEHE— KRR AIA3LSE
3.5 to 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that 20 TEREERAMKREBERLY
date at which time terms are renegotiated. B E TR
All properties held under operating leases that would FIBEMEURERERANFEAER
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are MAEEREREMEZERETG N
classified as investment properties. R EME-
The Group's total future minimum lease payments under KREBRBEAOUHHKCEHENREE
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: FEWNREEERIELZEUT
2023 2022
—E-= B &
$000 $000
FiT F7T
Within 1 year —&R 171,826 199,800
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEIER 168,141 178,566
After 2 years but within 3 years “HFBE=FR 129,568 172,442
After 3 years but within 4 years —FREOFRN 107,965 125,514
After 4 years but within 5 years MERERFERN 172,709 192,455
After 5 years hF% 141,398 232,758
891,607 1,101,535
The Group's investment properties are situated in Hong Kong € AFAEBZEREMEUNRESERUFH
and held under medium-term leases. GERSESTEIE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s building held for own d ETIBEUTINAERFEZERY

use located at:

¥2IRmEE

2023 2022
—E-= S

$000 $000

FT F7T

Medium-term leases in Hong Kong IR EEZRIAHEL 819,221 785,357
Medium-term leases land use rights IR AR 2 FRER 4 it e R

in the PRC 5,228 5,900

824,449 791,257

Certain of the Group’s building held for own use and
investment properties were pledged against bank loans,
details of which are set out in note 21(a).

FEREETERYERKEYEER
WLUERBIRITER  BRFEEINM
5F21(a)°
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

16. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

16. MEEE

2023 2022
—E=F S
$000 $000
Fz Fr
Properties under development located in Hong R EBRFED

Kong and the PRC BRI 974,001 653,000

Properties held for sales located in R EBRPENFEE
Hong Kong and PRC THE W 753,827 3,480,991
1,727,828 4,133,991

(@  Except for an amount of $521,511,000 (2022: $653,000,000)
as at 31 March 2023, which is expected to be recovered
after one year, all the remaining balances of properties under
development are expected to be recovered within one year.

(b)y At 31 March 2023, leasehold land included in the properties
under development for sales amounted to $788,575,000
(2022: $542,236,000).

(c) Certain of the Group's inventories of properties were
pledged against bank loans, detail of which are set out in

@ KBR-ZZE-_=Z=F=ZB=+—HB%
521,511,000 (Z & - — 4 :
653,000,0007T) Ay E R EFEHA R
—EB RO BN ERTERN —F
A Ue[a] o

b R-_TE_=Z=FE=Z=B=+—H &
ERYERNBE2HAELMEE
#788,575,00070 (B - — & :
542,236,0007T) ©

© FEBETYERFECHEMALUESEIE
TER AR BEHNHEE210) -

note 21(a).
17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. & ,.’J,aiz& SHAaE
(@) Contract assets (a) sHNEE

2023 2022
—g-= B
$°000 $000
F7T F75

Contract assets arising from BFREEENANEE:

building construction:

Right to consideration AR BRI - 165,471
Retention receivables FE U (R E & 46,317 92,373
46,317 257,844
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)

@)

Contract assets (continued) (a)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount

of contract assets includes payment schedules which

require stage payments over the construction period once

milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent

the build-up of significant contract assets. Additionally, the

Group typically committed to retain on 5% of the contract

sum for 1 to 3 years as retention period, which is kept in

contract assets until the end of the retention period as the

Group's entitlement to the amount is still conditional.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets is as follows:

17. BNEBEERGNERE (&

BNEE (&
?%é?‘]ééé%ﬁﬂﬁ R (R E
FE—ERNEXREERETEERRE
EMU’ET’EﬁB B RRBI R E 2 o It
ENFHEREBERREAGHNEE-
FEEBETRAERBEEHTEES
RENEE A E3FERE RS
o REAAAEENER BT IETW
BB AIEE

Rt EEENEENRRE R
LI

2023 2022
—E-= B4
$°000 $000
FT FiT
Within one year —FRN 46,317 210,203
More than one year and less than two years —F%B _FR - 47,641
46,317 257,844
Movements in contract assets BHEENEE
2023 2022
T =F T F
$000 $000
FiT FT
Balance as at 1 April KU B —HB 4 257,844 309,536
Addition during the year R EARM 76,517 395,521
Changes as a result of cumulative HREEEEmER
catch-up adjustments arising from KetiRE WWat7@)
change in estimates (note 7(a)) (165,471) -
Reclassification to receivables B BEERWRIE (122,573) (447,213)
Balance at 31 March R=B=+—H#%8 46,317 257,844
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. ENBEREGNEE (&

(continued)
(b) Contract liabilities by &H&E
2023 2022
—EZ= =S
$°000 $000
F5T FiT
Deposits from sales of properties HEY NS 1,005 3,312,486
Typically, deposits and instalments received in accordance BB EREMERE RN —IERK
to the payment term as stipulated in the sales and purchase T EETESNEENSE BE
agreement for pre-sales of properties are classified as ZEMENIEFERIAE R ZH]
contract liabilities. These will remain as contract liabilities Zilef—BERRIEAGHNEE.
until the control of ownership to these properties is
transferred to the customers.
Movements in contract liabilities SHEENEE
2023 2022
2= =
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Balance as at 1 April KA —H4&eR 3,312,486 2,878,029
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HFRHEB NGRS EME
recognising revenue during the year that ARNEHNEBER LD
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (3,311,481) (25,413)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of HFRiHEEWEE =
receiving deposits and instalments during MPHRIBESCENEE
the year from sales of properties )l - 459,870
Balance at 31 March R=B=+—H#%&% 1,005 3,312,486
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. FEURARTR R E fth FEULRRIA

2023 2022

—E=fF BT

$000 $000

FiT FT

Trade receivables (note (i) PEURBR TR (Z£()) 36,597 39,597
Less: Loss allowance B EBEIREE (786) (468)
35,811 39,129

Deposits, prepayments and e FATmE R EM

other receivables UL IB 197,240 88,774
Contract costs (note (i) SIS (ZE) - 119,188
233,051 247,091

Note:.

(i

Except for an amount of $13,475,000 (2022: $10,272,000) as at 31
March 2023, which is expected to be recovered after one year, all
of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within one
year.

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 March 2022 relate to the
commission paid to intermediaries in connection to their selling
activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction or ownership of these properties are not yet
transferred at the reporting date.

Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
revenue from the related property sales is recognised. Capitalised
costs of $119,188,000 are recognised in profit and loss during the
year (2022: 19,374,000). There is no impairment in relation to the
costs capitalised for FY 2021/22.

FL\!:

(in

B _ZE_=F=A=+—HA%
13,475,0007¢ (ZE = Z4 : 10,272,0007T)
MR IETER —ER WL R T EERTE
R —EAkE e

RIEBE__F=A=+—HERNLEHM
R ERNANEE > BRAF N AN
HEZHCERMAERNRESBANE
BREMERAREABREIMETUEE
S

EHMAR BRI EHE A REREAEN
REERREIAHERIN 9 F
AR I8 RSB E A 1B AR < 45 119,188,000
7T (Z 24 119,374,0007T) ©2021/224F
EE A B BR A 3 R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. AR R EHMEWRIE (&)
The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of loss RiFZEEH AT EAEBEWERRR (GOFRE

allowance), based on invoice dates, is as follows:

BB BREDTNT

2023 2022
—E=fF BT
$000 $000
Fz FiT
Less than 1 month DR —1@EA 22,167 31,082
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  BE—ER B/ LR =@E2 12,848 7,287
More than 3 month but less than 6 months BB =@ A B/ LR NEA 67 =
More than 6 months wBiE 7518 A 729 760
35,811 39,129
The movement of the loss allowance during the year is as follows: FREBEENESNINT

2023 2022

—E-= B
$°000 $000
Fiz Fr
At 1 April REs—H 468 252
Impairment loss recognised (note 8(c)) MR EEE (1E8(C) 318 216
At 31 March R=B=+—H 786 468

The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of loss

3 2R {85! 2% £ (R 4% F 2 8L (5 B9 FE U AR =R BY

allowance), based on past due date is as follows: EREC DT
2023 2022
—E-= =S
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Not yet past due A 22,167 31,082
Less than 1 month past due aH R —E R 6,179 3,777
Over 1 month but less than AHpBEE—EABLKR=EA
3 months past due 6,669 3,510
Over 3 months but less than BHA=EAELHR+ZER
12 months past due 67 657
Over 12 months past due AHpBBE+ @A 729 103
35,811 39,129

The Group generally grants trade customers with a credit term
of 30 days. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from

customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

19. RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH 19. Z[RHIKBIEIFERURIREKIR
AND BANK BALANCES 1T45ER
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
$°000 $000
SETE FT
Cash and bank balance RS RIRTTAEER 231,679 649,846
Fixed deposits TEHRER 380,122 46,987
. 61801 696,833
Less: P
Pledged deposits (note (i) EIRFRER GE0) (371,043) (536,756)
Restricted deposits (note (i) ZBREITFERR GE) (15,324) (46,987)
- (386,367)  (583743)
Cash and bank balances as stated in the FEMBRREANNIRE RIRTT
consolidated statement of financial EHREEIRERERANIR
position and cash and cash equivalents ERIREFEY
as stated in the consolidated cash flows
statement 225,434 113,090
Note: it
(i)  These balances represent bank deposits pledged to secure bank (i) I EERIERITEREEAERERERTE
loans of the Group (see note 21(a)). AR (RIIEE21(0)) ©
(i)  These balances represent proceeds received from sales of (i) UEEEEER Eﬁé]&%%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁlﬁ??)\%

RITERP - X IRE R AINS ?LEF%IEEZ
BEE &Wt*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?&?ﬁ@h%ﬁ%ﬁ’]ﬂ
BRAE-

properties of a property project which was deposited into a
designated bank account. The deposits are limited to settle
payments for construction cost, interest and repayment of secured
bank loans corresponding to that property project.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. FE(TERFR B H (T TRIA
2023 2022
—E=F S

$000 $000

FiT FT

Trade payables FE{TER TR 47,377 91,052

Other payables and accrued charges HhfE R IB R BT E A 55,439 34,003

Rental and other deposits (note (i) M kEMiZE ) 4,650 5,971

Rent receipts in advance FEURFE & BRRR 9,268 7,504

Retentions payables (rote (i) FE(T RSB TRIB (i) 81,171 125,130

197,905 263,660

Note: &t

(i) Except as disclosed in notes (i) and (iii) below, all of the trade and (i) R M RGN R (PRI BB & SN FR B FE(T

other payables are expected to be settled within one year.
(i) All of the rental and other deposits as at 31 March 2023 and 2022
are expected to be settled after one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $23,826,000 (2022: $73,983,000) as at 31
March 2023, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on

(iii)

SRR E M RTINS — F a5 o

FMER_E-_=FKrR-_ZE-"F=H
= t+—HzHEREMZRSEF R —F%

+
iAo

MR _E_=€=A=+—HA%
23,826,0007T (Z& = =4 : 73,983,0007T)
HRIBTES R —E BB R N EERTE
R —ERLES-

RiE %2 H s B AE BB RN IRE

invoice dates, is as follows: DT

2023 2022
—E-= =B

$°000 $000
FiT FiT
Less than 1 month DR —1@EA 29,486 88,926
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  BiE—EAEB/ LR =@ 17,753 2,116
More than 3 months but less than 6 months BB =@ B/ LR NEA 138 10
47,377 91,052
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS 21. IRITEMR
2023 2022
—E=%F =
$000 $000
FiT FT
Bank loans RITEMN
- Secured —BigE 4,571,450 4,837,268
- Unsecured —EiER 58,604 69,669
4,630,054 4,906,937
The bank loans are repayable as follows: IRITER AR TEEE !
2023 2022
—E-= B F
$000 $000
FiT FT
Within 1 year or on demand and —F R EREE R ARE
included in current liabilities a« 770,948 - 4,906,937
After 1 year and included in —FRBERIIAFFRBERE :
non-current liabilities:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEMRFEAN 858,835 -
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRFR 2,673,541 -
After 5 years AR 326,730 -
___3859106 -
4,630,054 4,906,937
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R455EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued) 21. IRITER &)

(@  Bank loans bear interest ranging from 4.14% to 5.96% (2022: (@ RITEMBENENTF4.14%E5.96%
1.96% t0 3.06%) per annum and are secured by the following (CE & 1 1.96%F3.06%) » AL
assets: THEEEER

2023 2022
—E=F =
$000 $000
FiT FT
Investment properties BEYE 4,594,220 4,453,700
Property, plant and equipment LEN =Yg 768,210 785,356
Financial asset at FVOCI BAFEESAEMEEREZ
THMEE 9,665 11,022
Inventories of properties MELFE 1,727,828 266,224
Pledged deposits EIERER 371,043 536,756
Other assets Hth&EE 35,971 46,329
7,506,937 6,099,387
In addition, as at 31 March 2023, the banking facilities of the > R =F=H=+—H>

Group were secured by the following:

- assignment of project proceeds, project insurance

and fire insurance policies for certain construction
contracts in relation to certain banking facilities
granted to the Group with maximum amount of
$300,000,000 (2022: $300,000,000);

assignment of all rentals and all other moneys,
sales proceeds and insurance over the investment
properties of the Group in relation to certain bank
loans granted to the Group with carrying amount of
$2,630,000,000 (2022: $2,750,000,000); and

share mortgages over the entire issued and paid-up
share capital of certain subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued)

o)

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain ratios as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. As long as the Group complies these covenants,
it is considered that the respective drawn down facilities will
not be repaid on demand.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had not breached the
covenants under the loan agreement with banks.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group was unable to meet
certain financial covenants under the relevant bank
loan agreements of certain bank borrowings. Such non-
compliance of the covenants may cause the relevant
bank borrowings of approximately $4,837 million (in which
approximately $3,526 million having scheduled repayment
dates beyond one year after 31 March 2022) to become
immediately due and payable should the lenders exercise
their rights under the loan agreements. Accordingly, the
Group's entire bank borrowings were classified as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2022.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 29(b).

21. iR
(b)

1TEM (B

FEBETRITMEANESE T
RHRE 2 FREE RN AR
BRI EM L ko A EE R 25
PRGEN B BRE 1% B2 P R I R MBI ©
FEEEREERETRELENE
Mo REBERERBTREFRLE IR
BMER T EREREE

A B _=F=R=+—H &&=
WEERBTERGZREHHNZ
ggo

RIE_—_F=B=+—H &~&H
REREETRITERZ AEER
FEARTENE TEREE - MEER
ARBERBZRTEEER > BEAF
B A T AEENARRETERY
48 371275 (HHh35.26f2 T HITEE B8
HEEA—Z - _F£=F=+—Hitst
—& &) BEREHEZE ALt T
T FE=B=+—H ' AEEEI
RITERWE D EARHE G

FEREERECRARNE—DF
TBEEI B EE29(0)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

22. TEEMTIA

2023 2022
—E=%F ==

$°000 $000

FiT FiT

Cash flow hedges: interest rate swaps REREHEF  FARBHEH 5,857 (2,156)
Represented by: t 2l

Non-current assets ERBEE 5,857 =

Current liabilities mEAaE = (1,317)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE = (839)

5,857 (2,156)

The notional principal amounts of derivative financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

@)

RBREMRREZENTESRTAR
LEATEHRUOT

2023 2022
—¥_= -

$°000 $000

Tz Tz

Interest rate swaps (note 29(c)(1)) MR GX) (Bra290)0) 1,050,000 1,151,465

Derivative financial assets/liabilities represent the amounts
the Group would receive/pay if the positions were closed
at the end of the reporting period respectively. Derivative
financial instruments that did not qualify for hedge
accounting and their corresponding changes in fair values
have been recognised in the profit or l0ss.

All derivative financial instruments qualified for hedge
accounting were deemed effective for cash flow hedge
purposes and no ineffective portion was recognised in profit
or loss for the FY 2022/23 and FY 2021/22.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

23. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION 23. ZEBWEHBASIUESE

OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 2 September 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to acquire the entire issued share capital of Dream
Palace Holdings Limited together with its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Dormax Limited (collectively referred to as “Dream Palace Group”),
and the shareholder’s loan, at a consideration of $318,297,000.
Dream Palace Group holds a site located at No. 41, 43 and 45 Pau
Chung Street in To Kwa Wan, Kowloon. By analysing the inputs,
process and output of the company, the acquisition that did
not constitute an acquisition of business and was accounted as
acquisition of assets. The transaction was completed on 5 October
2021 and Dream Palace Group became subsidiaries of the Group

N ZEZ—FABZH ARBH—Z2E
MEBARE —2BUE=ZA%TESRH
% » LUK BEDream Palace Holdings Limited%
HEBRTRABERNHZENBLATIZESR
[RAT] (8% IDream PalacefE [ ) &%
EEH RBEREA318,297,0007T c Dream
PalacefE BT A (I F NLBE L B I (L E41
A3 ASSR Z HER o DM AT A~ B
EEL LWEBL A ERUREERS 5
KBEE-ZRZENR_E_—F+84A
H5eAk > Dream PalacefE BIE M A 4 2~ £ &
BIK B AT o

accordingly.

The assets acquired and the liabilities recognised at the date of RUEEHRIWENESERBENT !

acquisition were as follows:

$000

FT

Inventories of properties MEEFES 320,000

Trade and other receivables FE W BR = R ELAth FE U =R IE 37

Trade and other payables FE{TBR R B (I Z0I8 (1,740)

Shareholder’s loan BRERER (244,222)

74,075

Assignment of shareholder’s loan EERREM 244,222

Net assets acquired W2 FEE 318,297
Total consideration satisfied by: HAREUTIZT :

Cash paid HWEZM 318,297

$000

Net cash flow arising on acquisition: WHEELEZHESFRE FIr

Cash consideration paid IRz RENE 318,297
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. B&7s
2023 2022
“E-=E “ETCE
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE &8 R AE] &8
‘000 $000 oo $000
FiE Fr FE F
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each SREEITNEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March REB—HBKR=A=+—H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR
At 1 April REB—H 1,419,542 14,196 1,419,542 14,196
Shares issued upon exercise of share options ~ {TEEERR I 2 THIRH
(note 33) Wri233) 270 2 - -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,419,812 14,198 1,419,542 14,196
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as ZBERFBEABRENFAREIRNES
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share TEBEARREBAGT LSRR —ZNK
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with ER-NPEALRBDEEMS B ZER
regard to the Company’s assets. ZEREMAL
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CREFRIEEERIN  LUBTTHIT)

25. RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group's reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The natures and purposes of reserves within equity are as
follows:

(@)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

w)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association
in paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion
of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the
hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending
subsequent recognition of the hedged cash flow in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
4(e).

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the cumulative
expenses recognised on the granting of share options
during the period.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 4(i)()).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 4(p).

25.

B3]

() Z&EH
AEBRRBESF BN G ERE
RN EmPHENEE KB N
.

(0 REE@EE
RO ZERAREREARX
RE ARBRBERRER AT
DK EFHARBHAERS
BAMERMRABE WA) 8
R B

BRIFEBRZEINDIKIKRE
ERREQAARAUXNREE
EHPRRANES SRINAH
RARMDEERNDEDRREX
T DIKEKER S °

(i) #AHlERE
HHREBEOEREREN AR
BEHPTAAFTENRGES
FRNBEUID D UFHEERE
MysEA(e)FT 8L E 5T BURFERE B ¥
HBIRERE -

(iii) FERRT1EGHE
BREREEHREDBERE
BBy R 5t FEslR < o

(iv) 2FEFE
ATERBEERAFESA
HMEmB @R KER &K
SRR AT EEHFEA
(B sEA0®) ©

(v) SEMFE
SNERER B IERREIBINER
WU BRREENERER X
7 1 4% B B XA () P 80 & 51 ERER
FRIE o
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WA AR bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BREFRISERRIN » LUBTTE)
25. RESERVES (continued)

25. {#fE (&

(b) The Company (b) &=RE
Share
Share option Hedging Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ROEE — BRERE bl R st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—-FMB—H 91,541 = (1,076) 64,453 154,918
Profit and total comprehensive FERNR2EKE
income for the year - - - 338,019 338,019
Effective portion of changes in FRERINEHTE
fair value of hedging ATEEFNEHDS
instruments recognised MHE
during the year, net of tax - - 1,076 - 1,076
Dividend approved in respectof  BitEZ EEERE
the previous year - - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividend approved in respectof  BHEZEEERE
the current year - - - (340,690) (340,690)
At 31 March 2022 and RZEZZ&
1 April 2022 ZA=+t-8Bk
b= Janpent 3111 Bl = 91,541 - - 5,000 96,541
Profit and total comprehensive FERFIRZENRG
income for the year - - - 772,731 772,731
Dividend approved in respectof  BHEZ LEERE
the previous year - - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividend approved in respectof  BHEZAEERES
the current year - - - (369,081) (369,081)
Share-based payment expenses RIS - 14,050 - - 14,050
Shares issued upon exercise of 1T RER HITHRN
share options 1,392 (327) - - 1,065
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=f
=B=+-H 92,933 13,723 = 351,868 458,524

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, was $458,524,000

(2022: $96,541,000).
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26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 26. ERRATIBMFR T

POSITION
2023 2022
Notes $000 $000
Bzt FiT FT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 52,856 55,032
Investment in subsidiaries KRERB AT —* —*
Loan to subsidiaries ERFHRB AR 1,186,914 801,898
Deferred tax assets R IEE 9,495 9,099
Financial assets at FVTPL BANFEFFAER Y
THMEE 9,591 8,932
1258856 874961
Current assets RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary BRFHB AR 2,500 2,500
Prepayment and other receivables FE1T =R B H fh FE U =R 1B 1,663,326** 1,963,956 **
Tax recoverable AR ERIE - 1,704
Pledged deposits BEIRFEER 266,081 12,980
Cash and bank balances & &IRTT4 R 114,825 20,168
2,046,732 - 2,001,308
Current liabilities Bt =Nl
Other payables HhfEG I 441,104*** 132,474%**
Bank loans BITEM 413,921 1,112,328
Loan from a subsidiary B A BIfER 2,500 2,500
Lease liabilities HESE 5,847 **%* 56 St
863372 1,252,954
Net current assets REEEZFE - 1,183360 748,354
Total assets less current liabilities #BE R ABIAE 2,442,216 1,623,315
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26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)

26. ERARMBRAE &)

2023 2022
—E°= -
Notes $000 $000
Hiat FT FT
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Bank loans RITER 559,863 =
Loans from subsidiaries I EPNEIREE N 1,369,600 1,466,700
Lease liabilities HEAR 40,031 %*** 45,878%***
1969494 1,512,578
NET ASSETS BEEE 472,722 110,737
CAPITAL AND RESERVES & 2 B & 1
Share capital [N 24 14,198 14,196
Reserves B 25(b) 458,524 96,541
TOTAL EQUITY e 472,722 110,737
* Less than $1,000. & /NFA1,0007T ©
** Included in prepayment and other receivables are balances with its = FEANKREMERRECSEREANE QS

subsidiaries of $1,662,122,000 (2022: $1,961,348,000). R4 8R1,662,122,0000 (Z2EZ 24

1,961,348,0007T) °

*** |ncluded in other payables are balances with its subsidiaries of o HMMEA RIBEIE RN E A BB SR
$440,552,000 (2022: $131,804,000). 440,552,0007% (Z &~ —4 : 131,804,000

JT) ©
**x% | ease liabilities are balances with its subsidiaries of $45,878,000 xx FHE AR ENE QT 2 48545,878,0007T

(2022: $51,530,00). —E T T4 51,530,0007T) ©

On behalf of the Board KEREEE
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi wah
BRFLEA 2EE
Director Director
EZE EF
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27. SUBSIDIARIES 27. B AE]
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries UTHRABEEAZEREBNES
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BEERBEZHNBRABINFE BRESBFRAR
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise 8o FERDERIEEER
stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BEERELLA
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BRIk
EMBRIRER/ 7 KEE
WEAR%IE BN EER BERE MIRARE BAMBRAARAE IEEH
Able Business Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
BEERERAR 5% 17T MEER
Dormax Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
SBERAR B 17T L
Dragon Mount Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
REERERAR 5% 17t MEER
Easton Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
RELRBERAA B 1007t MERE
Eson Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
HRERARAR 5% 1007% MERE
Golden Ford Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
TESERAH B 17T L
Grand Build Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
ERNEERBRAF 5% 17t MEER
Grand Tech Construction Hong Kong $5,000,000 100% - 100%  Construction
Company Limited
EREEERAR &5 5,000,0007T o3
iTech Towers Data Centre Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Provision of data
Services Limited centre premises and
facilities
EREAHBEROERAS BH 17t RAEHEROGHA
R
Marvellous Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
XERERRAR &% 17T MERE
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27. SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 27. MIBAR (#&)
Proportion of ownership interest
BaEERELLA
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
B&1Tk
RIS EL BERE,/ KEE
YNGR B AfER BE#E HFAAKE BMBAREE IEXH
Regal Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property development
REZRERAR B 17t WEER
Swift Millions Limited Hong Kong $5,000 100% = 100%  Property development
ERERAH e 5,0007 MEER
Top Regent Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
RZREEERAR B 17t WERR
Wellford Properties Limited Hong Kong $100 100% = 100%  Property investment
REBELXARAH e 1007¢ MERE
Winning Tech Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property investment
BEIBRAS B 17t MERE
Guangxi Jiaming Property The PRC RMB32,000,000 100% = 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. **
BEEHAEHEREEREEAF* HE AR 32,000,000 MEER
Guangxi Jiagiaohui Investment The PRC RMB150,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. *#
EREHEREREEREELAA* HE AE 150,000,000 MEERE
@ wholly-foreign-owned enterprise * SNEEERE
# the English name is direct translation of the Chinese name & BN LBABRMERXAE
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28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its construction business and property development
and investment projects, provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's current ratio (defined as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 2.12 times (2022: 0.63
times). The Group's gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) was approximately
155.3% (2022: approximately 230.9%).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
bank deposits, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets
at FVTPL, derivative financial instruments, trade and other
receivables, and contract assets. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

@)

28.

29.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continuead)

Cash, including restricted and pledged deposit, are deposited
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group has exposure limit for any single financial institution.
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments and
debt investments are with counterparties of sound credit
standing. Given their high credit ratings, management
does not expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Before entering into construction contracts, assessment
of the potential customers is carried out as part of the
acceptance procedures for the new contracts.

Regular review and follow-up actions are carried out on
overdue amounts of trade receivables from customers which
enable management to assess their recoverability and to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. Trade receivables are
due within 30 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of rental income from leasing properties, rental
deposits are held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. An ageing analysis of the receivables is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise any credit
risk associated with these receivables. Adequate impairment
losses have been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view
of their credit standing, good payment record and long-
established relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group’s credit risk to be significant.
At the end of the reporting period, 6% and 91% (2022: 17%
and 22%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

@)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 March 2023
and 2022.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customers as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group generally requires customers
to settle progress billings and retentions receivable in
accordance with contracted terms and other debts in
accordance with agreements.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. BEAKREEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#Z)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@) =EERMK #&)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRV BERAERRIEERNEES
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: Rl AEHREERIEZEN .
2023
—EC=HF
Gross carrying
amount
excluding
Expected specific Expected
loss rate debtors credit losses
FEERE
FEURTRIEHY
TR = IREEELE FEHRE 8RS8
(%) $000 $000
Fz Fz
Trade receivables FEULBR TR
Not yet past due KR 0.19% 22,210 (43)
Less than 1 month past due wHA DR —ER 4.41% 6,464 (285)
Over 1 month but less mE—1EA
than 3 months past due BALOR=ER 5.62% 7,066 (397)
Over 3 months but less mEA=EA
than 6 months past due BAORAER 6.94% 72 (5)
Over 6 months but less mHR7E A
than 12 months past due BOR+ZEA 0.00% - -
Over 12 months past due BmE+ @A 7.13% 785 (56)
36,597 (786)
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

@)

Credit risk (continued)

29. ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%iﬂ&@%ﬂlﬁﬁ%ﬁ

(@) EERR (&

2022
= St -
Gross carrying
amount
excluding
Expected specific Expected
loss rate debtors credit losses
FEERE
FEFIER
TaEREIaE FREEELE TEHiE 518
(%) 3000 $000
iz Fz
Trade receivables FEUSBR R
Not yet past due FiHR 0.05% 31,099 (17)
Less than 1 month past due mE LR —E A 3.03% 3,895 (118)
Over 1 month but less mA—E A
than 3 months past due BOR=@8 7.14% 3,780 (270)
Over 3 months but less =18
than 6 months past due BORNER 0.00% = =
Over 6 months but less mHERNE A
than 12 months past due BOR+Z@EA 7.88% 711 (54)
Over 12 months past due pap: iR e 5= 8.04% 112 ©)
39,597 (468)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

Trade receivables that were not yet past due and contract
assets within retention terms relates to customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.

RHREREXRBBE=FNEREE
R -2 F X B FHREUR K
EWEBEEERBEANZ BRI
ERR R R EBRE R RIS
AR Z BRI B R 2B ER -

B 2 280 A 7 £ ORI 1B BY PR WSGRR IR e 1t
R BB AR PO Y FE U R BB RRIB AN A HA I
BENZBRNER -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

@)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables that were past due relate to a number of
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
These receivables mainly relate to construction projects
either in progress or at final inspection stage. Based on past
experience, management believes that there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are not
credit impaired. Except for rental deposits for Data Centres,
the Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

29. BIERAREERESMTAEATE

(#)
(@)

EERRE (&

B %1 BA 1B 5K Al 1B A9 FE Uk B o T B
FEEBARFERCHRINETAER-
ZERBREZANETRINRER
ERENZRTIZAEM - REBEL
o BEEEBRRNBANKFERFED
BEEE REREEERLEEXN
28 BRFERNEERITHK
B FREIERONBEREIN K&
B ERL A SRR A R IR R o

FRAERBUIRMBIERE FHIRE
LI

2023 2022

—E-= B4

$°000 $000

FiT FIT

At 1 April RUE—H 468 252
Impairment loss recognised FREERZ

during the year FEEE 318 216

At 31 March R=B=+—H 786 468

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

29. AR EEERSMTAEATE

(#)
(b)

RBETERE @)

LURoRsFIIAERZ M ERNER
FHRG NN IBER WL RE
BHRBRRERE (BERAONER

(InEF B AR BIR S BIRBVIRTT
FZ) sTEHF BN RAEEAR
ERAMRF BRAMEH

The Group e
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNRURRETR
More than  More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1yearor lessthan  lessthan More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—FRg 0L mENE
KRER EmEMR EBREENRN  EENE st REfE
$ooo $ooo $000 $000 $000 $ooo
F7 Fr F Fr F Fr
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=f£=A=+-H
Bank loans SRITEM 925,472 909,988 2,825,609 344,599 5,005,668 4,630,054
Trade payable, other payablesand  FEfTBRZN HAEMNZUER
accrued charges EHER 103,356 - 3,560 550 107,466 107,466
Retentions payables ENRETE 57,345 23,345 5 476 81,171 81,171
1,086,173 933,333 2,829,174 345,625 5,194,305 4,818,691
At 31 March 2022 RZE__&£=A=+-H
Bank loans RITER 1,582,533 422,167 2,980,937 275,860 5,261,497 4,906,937
Trade payable, other payablesand ~ EfTIRF HMENZIER
accrued charges e ER 128,936 540 700 850 131,026 131,026
Retentions payables ERETE 51,147 73,305 678 - 125130 125,130
1,762,616 496,012 2982315 276710 5,517,653 5,163,093
Derivative settled net: RIBEENTETR !
Interest rate swap contracts FEEHEN 1,317 - 839 - 2,156 2,156
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(€)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowings
which predominantly bear floating interest rates. The Group
monitors closely its interest rate exposure and the level of
fixed rate and floating rate borrowing and considers hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group’s
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in (i) below.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-
bearing borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 21 to
the financial statements.

() Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
have been entered into to achieve an appropriate mix
of fixed and floating rate (mainly Hong Kong Interbank
Offer Rate) exposure which was consistent with the
Group's policy. At 31 March 2023, the Group had
interest rate swaps with a notional contract amount
of $1,050,000,000 (2022: $1,151,465,000), which it has
designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate
risk inherent in its variable rate bank borrowings. At
31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any
interest rate swaps which were not designated as cash
flow hedging instruments.

The swaps will mature over the next two years and
have fixed swap rates ranging from 1.3% to 3.4%
(2022: 0.5% to 2.63%). The net fair value of swaps
contracts entered into by the Group at 31 March 2023
was $5,857,000 (2022: $2,156,000). These amounts are
recognised as derivative financial instruments (see
note 22).

1 50 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23

29. HERAGREERESMTAEAFE

C/i:l)
(c)

B

REERH B EROF RE
HEMNERE MZEGAEERETE
BRAIEXGFR - AEREYGEH
FrEENAMERBUREEREES
BRI o W BB E R T R
BB e EIRE PR IEN AR EEF
KIFREH T i) °

E/@ﬁlﬁ

e

>

A E B 5T B ERBIR R R BB RN

AT ERAR 214K BB o

(i) #Hw
AEBBI LB T ENF]
EEBEN UEBRFTELE
ERENBEEERZEHEE
AEEEG R _BE_=E=1
—t+—H AEEFELEEDN
£%81,050,000,00070 (ZE ==
£ 1 1,151,465,0007T) BIF) =K1z
a4 IEEAETZBRITER
NEMNXEEIIRES RELH Ho
RIBE_=FER_T__F=
B=Z+—RB ' xERTEFET
A1 JEF5 %EL%@ML%%@%PI
B WA ZRIB i &4

EHEARREERERE
BomEEMNEEHENF1.3%
F3.4% (ZEZZF . 0.5%=F
2.63%) AN T =
F=A=+—HZAFEFEE
#5,857,000c (Z & -
2,156,00070) ° ZEHEERR A
eI A (fisF22) o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
WA R bk (3)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTEIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. HERAREEREMTAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued) () FERE #&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIFHS
The following table details the interest rate profile of T &R .:Jr)i’z?tij%iﬁéim%
the Group’s net borrowings (as defined above) at the HHTANHZBHGONE
end of the reporting period, after taking into account B> NERR %E%,H\HEEB’J f&
the effect of interest rate swaps designated as cash TR (EER ISOMEXRBR
flow hedging instruments (see () above). (R Ex()) °
2023 2022
k- Sy _ECCF
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
L GES &8 YIES E ]
% $000 % $000
F Fr
Net fixed rate borrowings: TEERBE:
Bank loans RITER 3.37 1,050,000 350 1,151,465
Variable rate borrowings:  ZE(fE:
Bank loans RITER 500 3580054 233 375412
Total net borrowings BRETFE 4,630,054 - 4906937
Net fixed rate borrowings as ~ E B ERUFBIGRENT
a percentage of total net FENBDLT
borrowings 22.68% 23.47%
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (i) &REZHT

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation
and total equity by approximately $29,893,000 (2022:
$31,358,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for borrowings made by the Group which were not
hedged by interest rate swap contracts. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis as for the year
2022.

A —E_=F=HA=1+—H"1
ST EEE FA R0 10018 £
HoMABEMEHERTE
ZK%lﬁﬁﬁfﬁ/ ) K 4B R =
AL 1 N#929,893,0007T (Z
7::5 31,358,0007T) ©

LR E DT TR REF =
EHENRSHEARBEMEE
th',ﬁHEAZ'S%*I’iEfﬁi?’FlJ%?ﬁ

BEHE P2 ERNFIEER
J: o TET —ENITIRIEREE
T
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MBRABEEREMIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%
(d) Foreign currency risk (d) SMESR Bz
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency REE T FEBEAIIERE > AR
risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are EENBABARZUETEE
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
(e) Fair value measurement (e) A~AFEFE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFEAZEHNETHEERE
value &
Fair value hierarchy W EER
The following table presents the fair value of the THRENAEE SR T ARK
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of EHRFRELCEHEEFENA
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised TE MiZRE B BIREEER]
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined 135 A EFENEERD S
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level —EAAFEER - LAFEFES
into which a fair value measurement is classified wIL2REERMATBEEN
is determined with reference to the observability AEREMEEEDFEWT -
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technigue as follows:
Level 1 valuations .  Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
F—REE D EFERF—AREEFENATE IR EHHEEEMBHHEREEXNEER
AR HRE
Level 2 valuations :  Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet

Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

F_REE D BREZABEBAENAEE BIFREE BN REBERAERARAIER
ENEZHIE - N RREBIEHIEREANEMIHER R

Level 3 valuations : Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

B MREE D BEATERERNEZHESEN AT E
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

”
(#&

1A It

BEERERMIAEATE

€) AFEE (B

(i)

BAFEAENZHEERE
Rt
RTFEFR &

The Group EE
Fair value measurement categorised into
AFEFEDES
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
NFE —4R B E=H
$000 $000 $000 $'000
FT F F Fr
As at 31 March 2023 RZZZ=%=F=+—H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments  fT4 &8 TE-FZXBEHEH
~ Interest rate swaps 5,857 - 5,857 -
Financial assets at FVOC| BATESAHMZERE 2
SREE 9,665 - 9,665 -
Financial assets at FVTPL WATENABRZEHEE 9,591 - 9,591 -
As at 31 March 2022 WZE-Z-&=A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOC| BATEFAHMZEREZ
EHEE 11,022 - 11,022 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEAAERZEHEE 8,932 - 8,932 -
Liabilities afR
Derivative financial instruments  fT4 &8 TA-FZXBHEH
- Interest rate swaps 2,156 - 2,156 -

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occurred.

BE_ZE_="HFR"_ZT__F
=R=+—HLEFE F—Hx
B R A EEE TRR
BEZHMHNEBATEL - AEH
BRBERERESHARQFE
FIRBE R EEEREE -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continueq)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair value of assets at FVTPL is based on the cash
value priced by external and independent parties at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined
by applying the discounted cash flow method. It is
calculated as the present value of the estimated future
cash flow that the Group would receive or pay of each
swap at each payment date based on the observable
yield curves.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company's financial instruments carried at amortised
cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. ERKIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2023 and 2022 not R _=FKk-_E"__F=-B=+—H
provided for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements were RAEEAREEGEVBRFEE ZE AKX
as follows: O
2023 2022
—E-= B4
$°000 $000
Fir FT
Development of investment properties KREMEZ EE 2,046,067 59,308
31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. HAER
At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any N _E R EITF=ZR=4—
material contingent liabilities. B> AABLEERERFAEE
32. NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32. XFRETERNMEE
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) REXRREEEYEIE
2023 2022
—E== —EF-—
$000 $000
FiT For
Cash available on demand BEROEARE 225,434 113,090
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32. NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32. XFMERERNMEE B
(continueq)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFBEENEEHERNOT
activities:
Bank Dividend
loans payable
RITER TR B
(note 21) (note)
Hrz#21) (&
$000 $000
Fr Frr
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-Z—FMA—H 4,004,901 17
Changes from financing cash flows: REREREZEE .
Proceeds from new bank loans MIRITERFIERIA 4,700,393 -
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (3,798,357) -
Interest and other borrowing cost paid BHEMEMEERE (128,971) -
Dividend paid BEURE - (397,462)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERE HENREE 773,065 (397,462)
Other change: Hh&s)
Interest expenses FEZH 128,971 -
Dividend declared FEIREE - 397,472
128,971 397,472
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZ-H=A=+—HK%
“E_”"HMNA—H 4,906,937 27
Changes from financing cash flows: REREREZEE .
Proceeds from new bank loans MIRTTERMERIE 1,606,238 -
Repayment of bank loans BERRITER (1,883,121) -
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BAFEMEMEEMRA (182,700) =
Dividend paid BRURE = (425,853)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERE B EHIEE (459,583) (425,853)
Other change: Hh&s)
Interest expenses FEZH 182,700 -
Dividend declared EIREE - 425,863
182,700 425,863
At 31 March 2023 RZIEZ=F=H=+—H 4,630,054 37
Note: BE S
KEBR _S_ZHF/K_T__F£=

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group's other payables include
dividend payable, amounting to $37,000 and $27,000 respectively.
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33. Share Option Scheme 33. MEfgREEE

In order to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants to
contribute to the long term success of the business of the Group,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013 (the
“Scheme”).

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its own discretion,
grant options to any full-time or part-time employee, executives,
officers, directors (including executive, non-executive, and
independent non-executive Directors), consultants, advisors,
suppliers, customers, agents and other persons whom the Board
determines have or will have contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue upon the Listing Date, being
40,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Limit"). Subject to Shareholders’
approval in general meeting, the Board may () renew this limit
at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the
approval by the Shareholders in general meeting; and/or (ii)
grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to eligible participants
specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time
to time. No options shall be granted under any schemes of the
Company (including the Scheme) if this will result in the limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to each eligible participant in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of
options is subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting
with such eligible participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

AR EERATHEAERESRR
BHEAMEHER 2R T —=4F
tRZ+=HRMmERESS (T5t8)1) -

REHE EFGANBEREBRETE
MEBAFRBEE - TERAE - WEAE
EX (BELT FATRBIIFRGTE
%) M B HERn TR AR
REMEFEIRHEEBBRMERIK
RABEMBIAL

RIFSH B R S A B EREMBRES B AT
FTRONEREFIRRD  GHRZT
SEBLETHPEHTRMOMBEAEII0%
RP40,000,0008 i 17 (T5t BIFREEL) o fH5%E
IRERNRIRRAE L EFE()ERE
WILRBEZRRAG LERRILAEER
BEETRINII0%; K /(i) BB st &
RENERETEFSTRENGERSH
o

RIFSH B e = R BRI E BB AR 5t B PR
REEHEARTENPABERTEBREET
fER M A T 31T IR0 AR B IR AT B S
TSBBR B E TR BI30% © fiH LLE5R’
BERRNEBHBBEXRE AR SREE
ANEMEREME B (BEFE) RHERE-

REM+ERHE BRaERKRSHE
RIBET 8 R AR BMEREMBRES S E
REOBREETEEMA FHITHRMAE
B A RBBEEETROMN % - ERE—D
REBREATRRNKRRAG LHER
ZEERSRERAEBBABERRERS
BJfEE

A\
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33. Share Option Scheme (continued) 33. BEiREstE &

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
Adoption Date.

A consideration of HK$1.0 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. Pursuant to the Scheme, the participants may subscribe
for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option at the
price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at least the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

The fair value of share options granted to eligible participants
is recognised as staff costs with a corresponding increase in
share option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the Binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the eligible participants have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original staff costs qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to accumulated profits).
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33.

Share Option Scheme (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, 16,630,000 options are outstanding under
the Scheme. The total number of options available for grant is
22,800,000 (2022: 40,000,000), representing approximately 1.61%
(2022: 2.82%) of the issue shares of the Company.

Details of movements of the options granted under the Scheme
are shown below:

fEfgtEstal (&)

m:f— E=B=+—H8 RE3
516,630,00017 BE AR HERITE o A H B EH
RIBE RS 48 814 22,800,0001p (ZE - —
£ 1 40,000,00017) > 15 ASA B B 21T RS 49
1.61% (ZZT 24 2.82%) ©

RIEBRES BRI BREE S FIFW
T

Number of share options

1
Balance
Balance Granted Cancelled/ Exercised asat
Exercise as at during lapsed during during 31 March
Name or category of grantees Date of grant price Exercise period 1 April 2022 the period the period the period 2023
(HKS)
RZIBZZ&E FREH RZEZ=F
EREAGLRER HHAMN fIfEE fT1EH mA—H FERELH E3 ERfIE =ZA=+—H
Executive directors:
WTES
Lau Chi Wah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
gEE
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
XA
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
BEH
Independent non-executive directors:
BURTES
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 200,000 = = 200,000
HRE
Kan Yau Wo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 200,000 = = 200,000
&AM
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 200,000 = = 200,000
TR
Sub-total = 3,600,000 = = 3,600,000
INat
Employees:
&S
In aggregate 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 5,300,000 = (270,000) 5,030,000
At 11/1/2023 6.04  11/1/2024-10/1/2033 = 8,300,000 (300,000) = 8,000,000
Sub-total - 13,600,000 (300,000) (270,000) 13,030,000
st
Total - 17,200,000 (300,000) (270,000) 16,630,000
=Ea

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted on 15 December 2022 and 11 January 2023 is measured
by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The fair
value of the share options is measured using a binomial model
as at the date of grant. Such fair values are subject to a number
of limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty
relating to a number of assumptions under the binomial model.
The assumptions used in the valuation of the share options have
been disclosed below. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.

(T — o = o 7 = . ——
F-A+—BREBREMESRBNA
FET2RERHBRENATESE-
ERHBERENAFEDPNERAN A
AR E-ANEA_EBARE SRS
IE{E““’TY‘IEEIE&TEEE‘IE%’E’%E

ZATERENZIERS - BREGETE
LN EE ET%‘"FX?EZ% BREGHEH

FEUE AR 2 o B (F — TR 8 A BUR © TRERIR AT
ITEMAZIRE -
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33. Share Option Scheme (continued)

33. fEkiEstal @

Share options granted on

BRI

15 December 11 January

2022 2023

—ET_F S

+=—B+AH —B+—H

Share price at date of grant (HK$) REHBBHENKRE (Bx) 3.95 6.00
Expected volatility FEHER R 1R 31.91% 32.81%
Dividend yield BB W= 2.53% 1.67%
Risk-free interest rate R A= 3.22% 3.35%
Fair value at date of grant (HK$) RiEH BN AFE B 1.212 1.862
Exercise price (HK$) T1EE B 3.95 6.04

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, which is
calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the
share option and adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information. The expected
dividend yield is based on the dividend payout in the previous year
and the average share price in the preceding year.

The fair value of share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately $25,681,000, in which the fair
value of share options granted to Directors and employees was
$4,362,000 and $21,319,000 respectively.

The share-based payments of approximately $14,050,000 is
charged to the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this consolidated financial statement, the

34. EXMMAE RS
@ BFREMBREREAMBBOARENRZS
RAgaRIN REBRERKRBEIILE

Group entered into the following transactions with related AIEARAMZS !
parties:
2023 2022

Related party relationship Type of transaction $’000 $°000
R 5 BV RAFER FiT 7T
An associate of a director Sales of properties 17,333~ -
—REBBEZHEA HEYZE
o include sale of a residential unit at a consideration of $15.33 @ BEHE—EBEFEEU REA

million, where the formal agreement for sale and purchase 15338 EXAEEHAR_-F

was entered into in June 2021 and the transaction was
completed in April 2022 with the corresponding revenue
being recognised in FY 2022/23. Details of this transaction
had been disclosed in the Company’s 2021/22 annual report.

Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior

2021/22FE R I 5B o

(b) EEEASNFHH (BEENES
MEER) RE1RE METRSH
B 12 & % = 4R B 1R 8 RO #r BN B I Y 5

management as disclosed in note 12, is as follow: 12FENT .
2023 2022
—FZ= —B__F
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Short-term employee benefits DHAE 2 @7 21,237 21,678
Share-based payment expenses [aLRNEE 2 5,574 -
Post-employment benefits BRIRTER] 86 108
26,897 21,786

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of directors and chief executives of the Company constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of key management personnel (other than directors and
chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

FABEFMEBZITHABFHINAIRT
27 EEA LT ARR B 14AZ TR
ERIRAEER 5 o AR IR L THARBISE
MAS ILERF R HRRKRE Ak
B3 R ERHL AR TE o

ARARBETEEEAE (EENE
SITHRABRIN F AR 3 5 1
KRB _E TR RSB 14AEFR 57 E IR
B2 5
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35.

36.

37.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed
payment of a final dividend and a special dividend. Further details
are disclosed in note 13(a).

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 March 2023, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Chan HM
Company Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2023.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

AL E Ry AP E

The particular of the Group’s investment properties and buildings held

for own use are as follows:

FEBNREVERBRAYEZFBUT !

Location Use Tenure
Ith 24 B& #H HA
Investment properties

REYE

iTech Tower 1

No. 28 Pak Tin Par Street

Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
BEEWAEE

H 5 H285%

iTech Tower 2

No. 56 Ta Chuen Ping Street

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
BB AR

FT AT fH565%

Shop B, Ground Floor, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NBER DB R B8 ra 3955 H EBE

Buildings held for own use
BREYZE

18/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENERIDIBERRE 39951818

19/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EARNBERIDIRZRFE R39571918

22/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENFERIDIE R E 39952218

Data centre
26 LSV

Data centre
RO

Commercial shops
2 £

Office premises
WAE

Office premises
HNES

Office premises
WAE

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FEAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP (Continued)
AL E R AR AR (B

Location Use Tenure

2, A& THHA

Shop in the Basement Floor, Shop A and Sales office Medium-term lease
Shop C on the Ground Floor, and Shop A HEMER FREAFRAY

on the 1/F of No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BBNFERIDIE R E 39T E

HE AR R CEl R 118AHE
Rooms 805-806, 5/F, N0.9 Zhongjian Road Office premises Medium-term lease
Qingxiu District, Nanning, Guangxi Province MANE FRERFRAY

the People’s Republic of China
FEEEEREm S 7 & R EEISESIE805 2806 =
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